Associated Bank Kazakhstan — Ziraat International Bank
Joint Stock Company

International Financial Reporting Standards
Separate Financial Statements and
Independent Auditor’s Report

For the year ended 31 December 2022

i
o
| Kasakcran 3upaat Xaiisikapancs tane 1

# EHwinee Baski Arinonenme Ko .
[ Srwinec bari Auwonepnik Korames

‘ KipicNe__ Y196

e ——



Contents

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i Separate Statement of FINANGIAI POSIION......ccviicccccinieeiesirrrree s veiasssceessssstne s ssmeeesssseesareessssmsesressesssessesscnsesssresssasassensssses |
Separate Statement of COMPrehensive INCOME ... e s et rs s n s ras £
1 Separate Statement of Changes N EQUITY....ccoiierimerrorirmr e s s s es s e b e s e 3
Separate Statement 0f Cash FIOWS ... eccceceissst s sere s sne s sasssnenssbesssasasraessnasnmssssessanessnsnesssens &
m NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Intreduction... OO PSSO OO OO O PO TROPROURTTOR 2 |
Operating enwronment ofthe Bank e eeeeieeeeeesiteerietesiietEerNereraeatTeraRYaeeare Tt R aer e raen e e aan e nmen e e nrraannenraerrans o
Summary of Significant Accounting PO|IC‘!6$ §]
Significant Accounting Judgements and ESMates ...t e 16
Adoption of New or Revised Standards and InterpretationS........ovevvvvercnnrimnese e st 17
New Accounting ProNOUNCEIMENTS .. e s e ae s nss s e s eines 18
Segment IMFOrmMEtIon ... e e e s et b e R e e b et g son 20
Cash and Cash EQUIVEIBNTS .....coovcir s ccvcee s v veer e reseretsssinnrsesarnesessnrsossnnnseesaasansnsss aesmseessnsns eacrsoesmasmeenss 22
DIUE TTOM ObNET BaNKS...ieiiieiereesrecriaerinrcrssenstessnsnsnssassess e sasesasansanesseessmas s assresase s e e asemraant S bmnsbaaartasbs shsbasarnassntn 24
E 10 LOBNS 10 CUSIOMIBIS (.1 rvraererirrvsreesnes rerscsssaesaaes 1oseessassma sa b re s aaeenas oo raae s as e eesmt s sa b e e e et ened e babebaas e bt eanEabbes s abbbssabas 25

WO ~G Ut Wh —

i1 Property and EQUIDIMENL........ e crre et s erie e s sassaecsss st e s s eranesetasaansn s sasnnranes ssraaseasnsseanneesrnnrrenase 39
12 Investments . . . . . . . 39
13 Olher Assels o o o A . . B . - 40
14 Due to Credit Enstltutlons .................................................................................................................................. 41
15 CUSIOMEE ACCOUNTS 1ociiiii it i iieees i e s et s e s eo s er e st bes R i b e e e s e s A pa b e m e e arnannes 41
16 LEEEE LIBBIHOS . ... e oo eeeiece et rrrs s eare e et e et s et et et b £ et e e e et emneent e e nbnd e ae e g R R be drabaa et 42
17 Other I o711 O O OO PO SOV URUUR RSP 43
: 19 Interest ]ncome and lnterest Expense USSP PPTURROPPTURRY -
20 Expected Credit Losses Expenses... et ereerarrase et e s e na s ne st ss s ase s tesratestacrtasssnne st essrnessasresneenrensrrassnnes Db
21 Comission Income and Comission Expense .................................................................................................... 45
F 22 Administrative and Other Operating EXPENSES. o ettt e s e a s bs s as 45
23 I COMIE TaAXES . ouue ittt i iciie s et srecst s e s e s s et e s s nr e s sareeasa e e sa b e e nane s sk e e e ne e sa ke e e bessan s et eanan st ansraesennesssnannassnsansssnn 46

24 Commitments and ContiNgENCIES....ccc it s asesarrsasssssrensssasss s nenessnassasses 7
25 RISK MANBGEMIEAE ..ot iecreer e cacace s erecrre e s e ceesms s mesme s mesan e s o srsees e e s e e beeemmsmsssssssssstsss s aressie e e 48

26 Fair Value MeasuUrement..........ccviriirecrrssnisse s sssrasseesne s v s sne s s s s ssrnasnessnsesssnannsns svns e ee - S, 59
¥ 27 Maturity Analysis of Assets and LIabIlIES ... 62
- 28 Retated Parties DISCIOBUIE ...crviiiirirercaes it ressrsassrs s imsasms s rmes s s s emasems e s e s ms s s be b db s kb e b abesa st a i s bn e 63
29 Capital Adequacy ... e etirereesrarrase e e re s aee st aa et et e raE e st s s nsnen e raesnnssanesnnsesenasranss OO
- 30 Events after the Er:d of the Repomng !"enod O NUNRU




—

1 ! g 1] { | ]

-

i

pwec

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholder and Management of Associated Bank Kazakhstan — Ziraat International Bank
JSC:

Our opinion

In our opinion, the separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the separate
financial position of Associated Bank Kazakhstan — Ziraat International Bank JSC (the "Bank") as at
31 December 2022, and the Bank's separate financial performance and separate cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

What we have audited

the Bank's separate financial statements comprise:

e the separate statement of financial position as at 31 Deocember 2022;

o the separate statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
o the separate statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

e the separate statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

» the notes to the separate financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Internalional Slandards on Audiling (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the
audit of the separate financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Slandards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) and the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the separate financial statements in the Republic of Kazakhstan. We have fulfiled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IFSBA Code and the ethical requirements of the
Republic of Karakhstan that are relevant to our audit of the separale financial slalements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
34 Al-Farabi Ave., Building A, 4th floor, Almaty, Kazakhstan, A25D5F6
T: +7 (727) 330 32 00, F: +7 (727) 244 68 68, www.pwc.kz
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Independent auditor’s report (Continued)

Page 2

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the separate
financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the separate financial
slalements in accordance with International Financlal Reporting Standards, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of separate financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the separate financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the
Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporling process.

Audilor’s responsibilitios for the audit of the separate financlal statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the separate financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these separate financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the separate financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
oblain audit evidence that Is sufficlent and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Cornclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to
cease fo continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the separate financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the separate financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Independent auditor’s report (Continued)
Page 3

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit

On behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

@/mﬁywﬁj LLP

Approved by: Signed by:

Aigul Akhmetova \\'Z_VEBHKBW‘“V
Audit Assurance Partner

Auditor in charge

o] (Qualified Auditor's Certificate
Finance of the Republlc of Kazakhstan Ne0000083 dated 27 August 2012)
Ne0000005 dated 21 October 1999)

24 March 2023
Almaty, Kazalkhstan
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Associated Bank Kazakhstan — Ziraat International Bank JSC
Separate Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022

31 December

31 December

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Note 2022 2021

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 8 73,608,146 37,745,423
Due from other banks 9 1,209,370 1,076,701

Loans to customers 10 75,501,612 75,798,827
Property and equipment 11 12,032,537 10,882,025
Intangible assets 321,308 279,078
Investments 12 554,379 554,379
Corporate income tax prepayment 23 185,770 -
Other assets 13 4,950,901 6,298,928
[OIAL ASSEIS 168,364,023 132,635,361

LIABILITIES

Due to credit institutions 14 5,108,357 5,102,162
Customer accounts 15 103,266,804 90,732,471

Current corporate income tax payable - 110,010
Deferred corporate income tax liability 23 214,864 166,858
Lease liabilities 16 403,105 534,769
Other liabilities 17 478,734 200,174
TOTAL LIABILITIES 100,471,864 96,846,444
EQUITY

Sharo capltal 18 48,500,000 15,000,000
Retained earnings 8,264,238 18,916,705
Reserve funds 18 147775 1477475
Revaluation reserve for property and equipment 950,746 695,037
TOTAL EQUITY 58,892,159 35,788,917
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 168,364,023 132,635,361

Signed and auihonzed for issue on behalf of the Management Board of the Bank on 24 March 2023:

/

[\

Murat A?lkan
Chalrman of tr\e Management
Board y

2

Alma Maxutova

Chief Accountant

The accompanying notes on pages 5 to 65 are an integral part of these separate financial statements



Associated Bank Kazakhstan — Ziraat International Bank JSC

{ ) Separate Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2022

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Note 2022 2021
lr Interest income calculated using effective interest rate 19 11,990,180 8,404,431
] Interest expense 19 (2,830,557) (2,224,826)
Er Net interest income 9,159,623 6,179,605
f

Expected credit losses expense 20 (21,362,019) (2,311,322)
{ Net interest income after expected credit losses expense (12,202,396) 3,868,283
= Fee and commission income 21 1,257,924 989,887
[ | Fee and commission expense 21 (285,299) (167,381)

Net gains from transactions in foreign currencies:

- dealing 3,104,629 955,075
. - translation differences 43,755 2,141
[ Other income 176,368 180,968
| 3 Administrative and other operating expenses 22 (2,763,369) (2,261,250)
ff (Loss)/Profit before corporate income tax expense (10,668,388) 3,567,723
|

Corporale income tax economy/(expense) 23 15,921 (828,408)
{ (Loss)/Profit for the year (10,652,467) 2,739,315
[ Other comprehensive income -
‘ Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss:
L Revaluation of land and buildings (net of deferred corporate income

tax — 63,927 thousand Tenge) 255,709 -
\I Other comprehensive income for the year 255,709 -
I Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (10,396,758) 2,739,315
|
|

(356.81) 182.62

Basic and diluted earnings per share (in Tenge) 18

_\ X

Signed ar,ldb/authorized for issue on behalf of the Management Board of the Bank on 24 March 2023:
Y/

Murat Alkan ' Alma Maxutova
Chairman of the Management Board Chief Accountant

The accompanying notes on pages 5 to 65 are an integral part of these separate financial statements
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Associated Bank Kazakhstan - Ziraat International Bank JSC
Separate Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 December 2022

Revaluation
reserve for
Share Reserve property and Retained
in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Note capital funds equipment earnings _ Total equity
As at 31 December 2020 18 15,000,000 1,477,175 696,534 16,175,893 33,049,602
Profit for the year - - - 2,739,315 2,739,315
Other comprehensive income - - - - -
Total comprehensive income
for 2021 - - - 2,739,315 2,739,315
Property and equipment
depreciation - - (1,497) 1,497 -
As at 31 December 2021 18 15,000,000 1,177,175 695,037 18,916,705 35,788,917
Loss for the year - - - (10,652,467) (10,652,467)
Other comprehensive income - - 255,709 - 255,709
Total comprehensive
income/(loss) for 2022 - - 255,709  (10,652,467) (10,296G,758)
Issue of shares 33,500,000 - - - 33,500,000
As at 31 December 2022 18 48,500,000 1,177,175 950,746 8,264,238 58,892,159

P
P

Signed andf\éuthorized for issue on behalf of the Management Board of the Bank on 24 March 2023:

\

Murat Alkan I
Chairnman of the Management Board

G

Alma Maxutova
Chief Accountant

The accompanying notes on pages 5 to 65 are an integral part of these separate financial statements
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Associated Bank Kazakhstan — Ziraat International Bank JSC
Separate Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 December 2022

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Note 2022 2021
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 19 10,866,569 7,199,671
Interest paid 19 (2,903,861) (2,168,827)
Fees and commissions received 21 1,255,583 991,750
Fees and commissions paid 21 (285,299) (167,381)
Net gains from dealing in foreign currencies 3,104,629 955,075
Other operating income received 176,009 180,968
Personnel expenses paid 22 (1,048,051) (839,139)
Administrative and other operating expenses paid 22 (1,365,699) (1,096,618)
Corporate income tax paid 23 (295,780) (735,078)
Cash flows from operaling activilies before changes in operating

assets and liabilities 9,504,100 4,320,421
Net (increase)/decrease in operating assets
Due from other banks 54,418 (69.807)
Loans to customers (17,310,395) (24,246,480)
Other assets 1,247,599 (1,194,477)
Net increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities
Receivables under reverse repurchase agreements (22,328) -
Due to credit institutions - 2,463,257
Due to other banks (1,454,037) 57,369
Customers accounts 8,238,527 3,399,953
Other liabllities 784,409 91,673
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 1,042,293 (15,178,091)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of properly and equipment and Intanglble assets 10 (1,212,672) (324,193)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 358 -
Net cash flows used in investing activities (1,212,314) (324,193)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issue of ordinary shares 18 33,500,000 -
Repayment of the principal amount of the lease debt (176,373) (179,520)
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 33,323,627 (179,520)
Effect of expecled credit losses on cash and cash equivalents 7 (3,263) 782
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 2,712,380 651,563
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 35,862,723 (15,029,459)
Cash and cash equivalents as at beginning of the year 37,745,423 52,774,882
Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the year 7 73,608,146 37,745,423

Signe_gj;éﬁd authorized for issue on behalf of the Management Board of the Bank on 24 March 2023:

-
Murat Allkan
Chairman of the Management Board

A

Alma Maxutova
Chief Accountant

The accompanying notes on pages 5 to 65 are an integral part of these separate financial statements



Associated Bank Kazakhstan —~ Ziraat International Bank JSC
Nofes to the Separate Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

1 Introduction

Associated Bank Kazakhstan - Ziraat International Bank Joint Stock Company (the "Bank”) was registered in 1993 in
accordance with the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan. The Bank conducts its aclivities under the general bank
license No. 1.2.67/241 issued by the Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan for regulation and development of financial
market (the “Agency”) on 3 February 2020,

The Bank accepts deposits from the public and extends loans and perform transfers of cash in Kazakhstan and abroad,
exchanges currencies and provides other banking services to its commercial and retail customers.

Tho Bank ie a member of the obligatory dopoeit insuranco systom. Tho eystom operates under the Law of the Republic
ol Kazakhstan on "Obligatory Insurance of Second Tiet Batiks Deposils” daled 7 July 2008 and is governed by the
Natlonal Bank of the Republle of Kazakhstan (hereinafter - NBRK). The Insurance covers the Bank’s obligations: up to
20 million Tenge on savings deposits in the national currency, up to 10 million Tenge on cards, accolints and ather
deposits in the national currency, and up to 5 million Tenge on guaranteed deposits in foreign currency to each
individual depositor in case of bankruptey and revocation of the NBK license to carry out banking activities. Since 1993,
the Bank has been a member of the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange (herelnafter referred to as the "KSE") and has been
involved in foreign exchange transactions.

As at 31 December 2022, the Bank's branch network comprises 7 branches and 1 central banking office located in the
Republic of Kazakhstan (31 Becember 2021: 7 branches and 1 central banking office).

Registered address of the Bank’s head office; 132 Kiochkov street, Aimaty, A15K7B1, Republic of Kazalkhstan.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the controlling shareholder of the Banlk is T.C. Ziraat Bankasi A.S {Turkey}
(hereinafter referred to as the "Parent” or the "Controlling Shareholder™).

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the shareholders of the Bank were as follows:

31 December 31 Decemher

Shareholder 2022, % 2021, %
T.C. Ziraat Bankasi A.S. 99.92 99.75
Emlak Pazarlama Insaat Proje Yonetimi ve Ticaret A.S. 0.08 0.25
Total 100.00 100.00

2 Operating environment of the Bank

COVID-19. \n March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of COVID-19 a global pandemic. In
response to the pandemic, the Kazakhstani authorities implemented numerous measures attempting to contain the
spreading and impact of COVID-19, such as travel bans and reslriclions, guarantines, shefter-in-place orders and
limitations on business activity, inciuding closures. Most of those measures were subsequently relaxed, however, as of
31 December 2022, there remains a risk that the authorities may impose additional restrictions in 2023 as a response
to possible new variants of the virus.

Conflict between Russia and Ukraine. COn 21 February 2022, the President of Russia announced the recognition of
the Lugansk and Donetsk People's Republics, and on 24 February sent mobilized military troops 1o the territory of
Ukraine. In response to Ruseia’s actions, the Unitod Statos of Amorica, the European Union and several other countries
have Imposed sancllons agelnst FRussla, Including culling ofl & number of Russlan fnancial institullons rom SWIFT.
Russta 18 Kazakhstan's largest rading pariner, accounling for up to 40% ol oif exporls, and 1s & key lade bansil, in
particular through the Casplan Plpoline Consorllum (CPC), which allows the exporl ol up o 80% of Kazakhsland crude
ail.

As a result of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine and its consequences, the Tenge exchange rate has become
more volatile, with inflation reaching almost 20.3% in December 2022. Currently, the National Bank of the Republic of
Kazakhstan has taken several measures to maintain the stability of the financial system of Kazakhstan.



Associated Bank Kazakhstan — Ziraat International Bank JSC
Notes to the Separate Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

2 Operating environment of the Bank (continued)

The long-term effects of the current economic situation are difficult to predict, and management's current expectations
and estimates could differ from the actual results.

Overall, the economy of the Republic of Kazakhstan continues to exhibit some of the characteristics of an emerging
market. It is particularly sensitive to fluctuations in the prices of oil and gas and other minerals, which make up the bulk
of the country's exports. These features also include, but are not limited to, the existence of a nafional currency that is
not freely convertible outside the country, and the low level of liquidity in the securities market. High inflation, problems
caused by the recent internal unrest in January 2022, ongoing political tensions in the region, exchange rate volatility
have had and may coniinue to have a negative impact on the economy of the Republic of Karakhstan, including
reducing fiquidity and creating difficultios in attracting intomational financing.

As at the date of this report, the official exchange rate of the National Bank of the Kepublic of Kazakhstan was 462 36
Tenge per 1 US dollar compared to 462.65 Tenge per 1 US dollar as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: 431.8
Tenge per 1 US dolfar). Thus, uncertainty remains regarding the Tenge exchange rate and future actions of the National
Bank and lhe Government, as well as lhe Impact of these factors on the economy of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

in September 2022, the international rating agency S&P Global Ratings confirmed the sovereign rating of Kazakhstan
at BBB-. The credit rating outlook was downgraded to "negative" as a resuit of growing external and financial risks.
Fitch has affirmed Kazakhstan's long-term rating as 'BBB' with a 'stable’ outlook. The stable outlook is supported by
the government's strong fiscal and external balance sheets, fiscal flaxibility backed by accumulated savings from oif
revenues, a net financial creditor position, and measures implemenied by the Government of the Republic of
Kazakhstan.

The economic environment has a significant impact on the Bank's operations and financial position. The management
takes all necessary measures {o ensure the sustainable operation of the Bank. However, the future impact of the current
econornic environment is difficull lo predicl, and managements current expectations and aestimates could dilfer lrom
the actual results.

3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of preparation. These separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") under the historical cost convention, as modified by the initial recognition of
financial instruments at fair value, and by the revaluation of property and plant measured at fair value. The principal
accounting policies applied in the preparation of these separate financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated (Note 5)

The preparation of IFRS financial siatements requires the use of some critical accounting estimates. In addition,
management needs to exerclse Its jJudgment in applying the Bank's accounting policies. Areas of accounting that involve
a higher degree of measurement or complexity, and areas where assumptions and estimates are material to the
financial statements, are discussed in Note 4.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Bank has 100% share in two subsidiaries engaged in the field of stress asset
management. For more information {Note 11).

Controlled entities are not consolidated into these separate financial statements. Investments in controlied entities were
accounted for at cost. These separate financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements that were approved for issue by the Bank's management on 24 March 2023. The consolidated financial
stalements for lhe year ended 31 Decembar 2022, prepared In accordance with IFRS and issued on 24 March 2023
can be oblained fromn the Bank's head office al address menlloned above,

Ihese separate financial statements are presented in thousands of Kazakhstanl 1enge (herelnafter - “1enge”), unless
othorwisc is statod. )

Going concern basis. Management prepared these financial statements on a going concern basis. Refer to Note 4
for uncertainties relating to events and conditions that may cast a significant doubt upon the Bank’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

Financial assefs and liabilities. All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets and liabilities are recognized
on the trade date i.e. the date that the Bank commits to purchase the asset or liability. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets and liabilities that require delivery of assets and liabilities within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.



Associated Bank Kazakhstan — Ziraat International Bank JSC
Nofes to the Separate Financial Statemenis for the year ended 31 December 2022

3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Initial recognition. The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms
and the business model for managing the instruments. Financial instruments are initially measured at their fair value
and, except in the case of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at fair value through profit or loss (hereinafter
-~ “FVPL"), transaction costs are added to, or subtracted from, this amount.

Measurement categories of financial assets and liabilities. The Bank classifies all of its financial assets based on the
business model for managing the assets and the asset's contractual terms, measured at either:

«  Amortized cost;
+ FVPL.

The Bank classifies and measures lts derivatlve and trading portfollo at FVYPL. The Bank may designate financial
instruments at FVPL, if so doing eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognition inconsistencies.

Financial liabilities, other than loan commitments and financial guarantees, are measured at amortized cost or at FVPL
when they are held for trading, are derivative instruments or the fair value designation is applied.

Due from credit institutions, loans to customers measured at amortized cost. The Bank only measures due from credit
institutions, loans to customers and other financial investments at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are
met:

the financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets In order to collact
contractual cash flows;

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and [nleresl on the princlpal amount oulstanding (8PP,

The details of these conditions are outlined below.

Business model assessment. The Bank determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages
groups of financial assets to achieve its business objective.

The Bank's business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher level of aggregated
portfolios and is based on observable factors such as:

¢ How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model are evaluated
and reported to the entity’'s key management personnel;

¢ The risks that affect the performance of the business model {and the financial assets held within that business
model) and, in particular, the way those risks are managed;

« How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation is based on the fair
value of the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected);

« The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also imporiant aspects of the Bank's assessment.

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking ‘worst case’ or ‘stress case’
scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realized in a way that is different from the Bank’s original
expectations, the Bank does not change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in that business model,
but Incurpurales such Information when assessing newly orighiated or newly purchased flianclal assets golng lorward.

Test "exclusively payments against the principal amount of debt and interest on the outstanding part of the principal
amount of debt” (The SPPI! test). As part of the classification process, the Bank evaluates the contractual terms of a
financial asset to determine whether the contractual cash flows on the asset are solely payments to the principal
amount of the debt and interest on the outstanding part of the principal amount of the debt (SPPI test).

“Principal” for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and may
change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or amortization of the
premium/discount).

The most significant elements of interest within a lending arrangement are typically the consideration for the time value
of money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Bank applies judgement and considers relevant factors
such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the interest rate is set.
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3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more than de minimis exposure to risks or volatility in the contractual
cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not give rise to contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the amount outstanding. In such cases, the financial asset is required to be
measured at FVPL.

Financial guarantees, lefters of credit and undrawn loan commitments. The Bank issues financial guarantees, letters
of credit and loan commiiments.

Financial guarantoos aro initially recognized in the separate finanoial statements at fair value, being the premium
received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the
amount initially recognized less cumulative amortization recognized in separate statement of proflt or loss, and — under
I RS 9 — an Lxpected Credit [ osses (the "ECL").

Credit obligations and letters of credit are contractual obligations under the terms of which, during the term of the
obligation, the Bank is obliged to provide a loan to the client on pre-agreed terms.

Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities. The Bank does not reclassify its financial assets subsequent to
their initial recognition, apart from the exceptional circumstances in which the Bank changes the business model for
managing financial assets. Financial liabilities are never reclassified.

Cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash eyulvalenls conslsl ol cash on hand, due from the NBRK (excluding
required reserves) and due from credit institutions including deposits and funds placed under reverse repurchase
agreements that mature within ninety days of the date of origination and are free from contractual encumbrances.

Receivables under repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements and securities lending. Contracts for the
sale and repurchase of securities ("rapo” agreements) are recorded in the separate financial statements as securod
financing transactions. Securities sold under repurchase agreements continue to be reflected in the separate statement
of financial position and are transferred to the category of securities provided as collateral under repurchase
agreements if the counterpariy has the right to sell or re~-pledge these securities arising from the terms of the agreement
or generally accepted practice. The corresponding liabilities are included in the funds of other banks or customers. The
purchase of securities under reverse sale agreements {reverse "repo"} is reflected as part of cash and cash equivalents
or due from credit institutions, depending on the situation. The difference between the price and the repurchase price
is freated as interest income and is accrued over the life of the repurchase agreements using the effective interest
method.

Borrowings. Issued financial instruments or their components are classified as liabilities, where the substance of the
contractual arrangement results in the Bank having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the
holder, or to satisfy the abligation olher than by the oxchango of a ixod amount of cash or anothor financial ussot for a
fixed number of own equity instruments. Such instruments include amounts due to other banks and customer accounts.
After initial recognition, borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the borrowings are derecognized as well as through the
amortization process

Offsetting of financial instruments. Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the
separate statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultanecusly. The right of
set-off must not be contingent on a future event and must be legally enforceable in alt of the following circumstances:
o the normal course of bueiness;

o lhe event of delaull; and

» the event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the entity and all of the counterpartiss.

These conditions are not generally met in master netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are
presented gross in the separate statement of financial position.

Fair value measurement. The Bank measures financial instruments carried at FVPL and non-financial assets such as
buildings and land, at fair value at each reporting date.
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3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderiy transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

¢ In the principal market for the asset or liability; or

¢ Inthe absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liahility.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Bank. The fair value of an asset or a liability
ie mearurad uring the assumptions that markot participants would use when pricing the aseet or liability, assuming thaot
marleet participants act in their cconomic best interest. A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
dccourit & 1narkel parlicipanl’s abilily (o generale economic beneflts by using the assel In lis hlghesl and besl use or
by seling it to another market participant that would use the assel in ils highest and besl use,

The Bank uses valuallon lechnlgues thal are appropriate in the clroumnmslances and for which sulliclent dala are available
to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the separate financial statements are
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

o level 1 - quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

¢ Lavel 2 - valuation techniquec for which the lowoel lovel inpul that is significant {o tho fair valuo moasuromont ie
direclly or indirectly observable;

¢ Level 3 - valuaticn techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the separate financial statements on a recurring basis, the Bank
determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Restructured loans. Where possible, the Bank seeks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral.
This may involve extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions. The Bank
derecognizes a financial asset, such as a loan to a customer, when the terms and conditions have been renegotiated
fo the extent that, substantially, it becomes a new loan, with the difference recognized as a derecognition gain or loss,
to the extent that an impairment loss has not already been recorded.

The nawly racognizad loana are classlfied as Stage 1 for CCL measurement purposes, unless the new loan is deemed
to be POCI. When assessing whether or not to derecognize a loan to a customer, amongst others, the Bank considers
the following factors:

¢ Change in currency of the loan;
o Change in counterparty;

¢ Ifthe modification is such that the instrument would no longer meet the SPPI criterion.

If the modification does not result in cash flows that are substantially different, the modification dees not result in
derecognition. Based on the change in cash flows discounted at the original EIR, the Bank records a modification gain
or lugy, presented wilhin loss fom modification of financial assels measured al nmortized coslin lhe separate slalement
of profit or logs that are presented as a part of interest revenus calculated using the effective interest rate in the
statement of profit or loss before an impaimont loss is rocognizod

For modifications not resulting in derecognition, the Bank also reassesses whether here has been a significant increase
in credit risk or whether the assets should be classified as credit-impaired. Once an asset has been classified as credit-
impaired as the result of modification, it will remain in Stage 3 for a minimum 3-month probation period. In order for the
restructured loan to be reclassified out of Stage 3, impairment indicators should be eliminated and at least three
subsequent payments have been made in accordance with the modified payment schedule.
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As part of the implementation of the IBOR reform, many financial instruments have already been changed or will be
changed as we move from IBOR to a risk-free interest rate. In addition to a change in the interest rate of a financial
instrument, such a transition may result in additional changes to the terms of the financial instrument. For financial
instruments measured at amortized cost, the Bank first applies the practical expedient described in Note 3 to reflect
the change in base interest rate from IBOR to the risk-free rate. Then, for any changes to which the practical expedient
doos not apply, the Bank usos judgmont to assoss whothor the changes are matorial. If these changes are matorial,
the financial instrument is derecognized and a new financial instrument is recognized. If the changes are immaterial,
the Bank adjusts the gross carrying amount of the financial instrument by the present value of the changes not subject
to practical expedient, discounted using the revised effective interest rate.

Impainnent assessment. The Bank calculates ECL based on several probabllity-welghled scenarlos lo measure lhe
expected cash shortfalls, discounted at an approximation to the FIR A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash
flows that are due to an entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive. The
mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key cloments are as follows:

PD The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon.
A default may only happen at a certain fime over the assessed period, if the facility has not been
previously derecognized and is still in the portfolio.

EAD The Exposure af Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account
expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and
interest, whether scheduled by contract or olherwise, expected drawdowns on committed facililies,
and accrued Inlerest frorm missed payinents,

I.GD The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given
time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender
would expect lo receive, including from the realization of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a
percentage of the EAD,

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected credit
loss or LTECL), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case,
the allowance is based on the 12 months’ expected credit loss (12mECL). The 12mECL is the portion of LTECL that
represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after
the reporting date. Both LTECL and 12mECL are calculated on either an individual basis or a collective basis,
depending on the nature of the underlying portfolio of financial instruments.

The Bank has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of whether a financial
instrument's credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change in the risk of
default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument. Based on the above process, the Bank combines
its loans into the following groups:

Stage 1: When loans are first recognized, the Bank recognizes an allowance based on 12mECL. Stage 1 loans
also Include facilities where the credit risk has Improved and the loan has been reclasslified from
Stage 2.

Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Bank records an

allowance for the LTECL. Stage 2 loans also include facilities, where the credit risk has improved and
the loan has been reclassified from Stage 3.

Stage 3: Loans considered credit-impaired. The Bank records an allowance for the LTECL.

POCI Purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) assets are financial assets that are cradit impairod
on initial recognition. POCI assets are rocordod at fair value at original recognition and interest
revenue is subsequently recognized based on a credit-adjusted FIR FCL are only recognized or
released to the extent that there is a subsequent change in the lifetime expected credit losses.

Definition of default and cure

The Bank considers a financial instrument defaulted and therefore Stage 3 (credit-impaired) for ECL calculations in all
cases when the borrower becomes 80 days past due on its contractual payments. The Bank considers due from other
banks defaulted and takes immediate action when the required intraday payments are not setfled by the close of
business as outlined in the individual agreements.
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3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

As a part of a qualitative assessment of whether a customer is in default, the Bank also considers a variety of instances
that may indicate unlikeliness to pay. When such events occur, the Bank carefully considers whether the event should
result in treating the customer as defauited and therefore assessed as Stage 3 for ECL caleulations or whether Stage 2
is appropriate. Such events include:

« restructuring of the loan due fo deterioration of financial position of the borrower;
o amaterial decrease in the underlying collateral value more than 50% during 6 month period,
e dealh of tha borrower

« the borrower is deceased: lose or unsuitability of the underlying collateral during 6 month period

It 1s the Bank’s policy to consider a financial instrument as ‘cured’ and therefore re-classifled out of Stage 3 when none
of the default criteria have been present for at least three consecutive months. In order for the restructured loan to be
reclassified out of Stage 3, impairment indicators should be eliminated and at least three subsequent payments have
been made in accordance with the modified payment schedule.

Taxation. The current corporate income tax charge is calculated in accordance with the regulations of the Republic of
Kazakhstan.

DNeferred comorate income tax assets and liabilifies are calculated in respect of tomporary differences using the lability
method. Deferred corporale income laxes are provided for all termporary diffarencos arising bulween e Lax basos of
assets and liabilities and their catrying values for separate financial reporting purposcs.

A deferred corporate income tax assot is rocorded only to tho oxtont that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Deferred corporate income tax assets and liabilities
are measured at tax rates that are expected 1o apply to the period when the asset is realized or the: liability is settled,
based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

The Republic of Kazakhstan also has various operating taxes that are assessed on the Bank’s aclivities. These taxes
are recorded within administrative and other operating expenses in the separate statement of comprehensive income.

Property and equipment. Property and equipment, except for buildings and land, are carried at cost, excluding the
costs of day-to-day servicing, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment. Such cost includes the
cost of replacing part of equipment when that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met.

I'he carmying valuc ot property and cquipment Is reviewed for Impalrment when evenls or changes In cicumslances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

After initial recognition at cost, buildings and land are carried at a revalued amount, which is the fair value at the date
of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation (of buildings) and subsequent accumulated
impairment [osses. Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does
not differ materially from its carrying amount.

Accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and
the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

Any revalualion surplus is recognized in olher comprehensive income, except for reversals of any previous impalrment
of lhe assel previously recognized In profit or loss. In lhis case, the amounl of he increase in the value of the assel is
recoynized in profil or loss, Revaluation wiite downs are recognized in profit or loss, unless such decrease is offset
direclly against a previous surplus on the same asset recognized in the property, plant and equipment rovaluation
resarve, The Bank has also elacted not to transfer the revaluation surplus to retained eamings in relation to actual use
of respective asset.

The Bank applies an accounting method whereby the revaluation surplus is not transferred to retained eamings as the
asset is used up. The bank rolls over the entire surplus when the asset is written off or liquidated.
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Depraciation of an asset begins when it is available for use. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the
following estimated useful lives:

Useful lives in vears

Buildings 50 years
Computers and office equipment 2.5 years
Vehicles 4 years
Other 4~ 8.7 years

The asset's residual values, useful hves and methods are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each reporting
year-end.

Costs related to repairs and renewals are charged when incurred and included in administrative and other operating
expenses, unless they quallfy for capltalization.

Leases. Bank as a lessee. The Bank applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for
shori-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Bank recognizes lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets. The Bank recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date
lhe undertlying assel is avaliable fur use). Right-ul-use assets are measured al cost, less any accumnulaled deprecialion
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasuromaont of loaso Babilities The cost of right-of-usae assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. If the Bank doos not have sufficlent assurance that it will
obtain title to the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognized right-of-use asset is amorlized on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the asset's estimated useful life or the lease term. [Right-cf-use assets are tested for
impairment.

Lease Iiabilities. At the commencement date of the lease, the Bank recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present
value of [ease payments to be made over the lease term. The lsase payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) [ess any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reascnably certain to be exercised by the Bank and payments of penalties for
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Bank exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories)
in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

To caleulate the presenl value of lease payments, the Bank uses the rate of attractlon of additlonal borrowed funds at
the start date of the lease, if the interest rate stipulated in the lease agreement cannot be easily determined. After the
start date of the lease, the amount of lease liabilities increases to refiect the accrual of interest and decreases fo reflect
the lease payments made. In addition, in the event of a modification, change in the lease term, a change in substantially
fixed lease payments or a change in the valuation of an opfion to purchase an underiying asset, the carrying amount
of lease liability is revalued.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Bank applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
its shor-term leases of machinery and equipment (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition
exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value {up to 100 minimum calculated indicators).
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized as expensge on a siraight-line
basls over lhe lease lenn,

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts with renowal options. Ihe Bank determines the
lease lenmn as the non-cancellable lenn of the lease, together with any periods covered by an option to extend the lease
if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if itis reasonably
certain nof to be exercised.

The Bank has the option, under some of its leases to lease the assets for additional terms of three to five years. The
Bank applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew. That is, it
considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal. After the commencement
date, the Bank reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its
control and effects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise) the option to renew (e.g., a change in business strategy).
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Intangible assets. Intangible assets comprise computer soflware and licenses. Intangible assets acquired separately
are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is fair
value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any
accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful economic lives of 6.7
years and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
Amortization periods and methods for intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are reviewed at least at each financial
year-end.

Assets classified as held for sale. The Bank classifies a non-current asset (or a disposal group) as held for sale if its
catrying amount will be recovered principally through & sale transaction rather than through eontinuing use. Nor this lo
be the case, the non-current asset (or disposal group) must be avallable for immedlale sale In ils presenl condilion
subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such assels (or disposal groups) and its sale must be
highly probable.

The sale qualifies as highly probable if the Bank's management is commitied to a plan to sell the non-current asset (or
disposal group) and an active program to locate a buyer and complete the plan must have been initiated. Further, the
non-current asset (or disposal group) must have been actively marketed for a sale at price that is reasonable in relation
to its current fair value and in addition the sale should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within
one year from the date of classification of the non-current asset (or disposal group) as held for sale.

The Bank measures an asset (or disposal group) classified as held for sale at the lower of its carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell. The Bank recognizes an impairmenl loss for any initial or subsequent write down of the asset
{or disposal group) to fair value less costs to sell if events or changes in circumstance indicate that their carrying amount
may be impaired.

Provisions. Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a present legal or constructlve obligation as a result of past
events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying econcmic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of obligaticn can be made.

Retirement and other employee benefit obligations. The Bank does not have any pension arrangements separate
from the state pension system of the Republic of Kazakhstan, which requires current contributions by the employer
calculated as a percentage of current gross salary payments; such expense is charged in the period the related salaries
are eamed. In addition, the Bank has no significant post-employment bensfits.

Share capital

Ordinary shares. Ordinary shares are ehown within equity. External costs directly attritnitable to the Issue of new shares,
other than on a business combination, are shown as a deduction from the proceeds in equity. Any excess of the fair
value of consideration received over the par value of shares issued is recognized as additional capital.

Dividends. Dividends are recognized as a liability and deducted from equily at the reporting date only if they are
declared before or on the reporting date. Dividends are disclosed when they are proposed before the reporting date or
proposed or declared afier the reporting date but before the separate financial statements are authorized for issue.

Segment reporting. The Bank's segmental reporting is based on the following operating segments: Corporate banking
and retail banking.

Contingent assets and liabilities. Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the separate statement of financial
position but are disclosed unless the possibility of any outflow in settlement is remote. Contingent assets are not
recognized in the separate statement of financial position but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Recognition of income and expenses. Revenue is recognized to the exient that it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Bank and the revenue can be rcliably measured.
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Interest and similar income and expenses. The Bank calculates interest income on debt financial assets measured
at amortized cost or at FVOCI by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of financial assets other than credit-
impaired assets. EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset
or financial liability. The calculation takes into account all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for exampie,
prepaymesnt options) and includes any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable fo the instrument and are
an integral part of the effective interest rate, but not future credit losses. The carrying amount of the financial asset or
financial liability is adjusted if the Bank revises its estimates of payments or receipts. The adjusted carrying amount is
calculated based on the original effective interest rate and the change in carrying amount is recorded as interest income
or expensea.

When a financlal asset becomes credit-impalred, the Bank calculates interest Income by applylng the effeclive Inlerest
rate to the net amortized cost of the financial asset. If the financial assets cures and is no longer credit-impaired, the
Bank raverie to calculating interest income on a grose basis.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired {POCI) financial assets, the Bank calculates interest income by calculating
the credit-adjusted EIR and applying that rate to the amortized cost of the asset. The credit adjusted EIR is the interest
rate that, at original recognition, discounts the estimated future cash flows (including credit losses) to the amortized
cost of the POCI assets.

Interest income on all financial assets at FVPL is recognized using the contractual interest rate in “Other interest
Incoime” in lhe separale slaleinenl of cumprehensive incoime.

Fee and commission income. The Bank earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it
provides to its customers. Fee income can be divided into the following two categories:

Fee and comnission incorme earned from services that are provided over a certain period of fime. Fees earned for the
provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period as respective performance obligations are
satisfied. These fees include commission income and asset management, custody and other management and
advisory fees. Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down and other credit related fees are
deferred (together with any incremental costs) and recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the
loan.

Commission income from providing transaction services. Fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation
of a transaction for a third party - such as where the Bank’s performance obligation is the arrangement of the acquisition
of shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses — are recognized on completion of the underlying
transaction. Fees or components of fees that are linked to certain performance obligations are recognized after fulfilling
the corresponding crileria When (he conlract provides for a variable consideration, fec and commission income is only
recognized to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized
will not oceur until the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

Foreign currency fransiation. The separate financial statements are presented in Tenge, which is the Bank's
functional and presentation currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency
rate established and published by KASE ruling at the date of the transaction, Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated In foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the reporting
date. Gains and losses resulting from the transiation of foreign currency transactions are recognized in the separate
statement of comprehensive income as net gains from foreign currencies — translation differences. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monstary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
lhe officlal exchange rales at lhe dale when the falr value was delenmined.

Differences belween the contractual exchiange rate of a transachion i a loreign currency and the oflicial KASE
exchange rate on the date of the transaction are included in net gains from dealing in foreign currencies. he KASE
market exchange rates on 31 December 2022 and 2021, were 462.65 Tenge and 431.8 Tenge to 1 US Dollar,
respectively.

Changes in the presentation of financial statements. Where necessary, comparative data has been adjusted to
align with the presentation of current year results. The table below shows the impact of the reclassification on the
amounts as at 31 December 2021 for financial reporting purposes.
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1) Presenting fee and commission income and expenses separately in the statement of comprehensive income

In the previous year's financial statements, the Bank disclosed fee and commission income and expenses separately in
the notes in the financial statements, but showed them on a net basis in the statement of comprehensive income. For this
year's financial statements, the Bank discloses fee and commission income and expenses separately in the statement of
comprehensive Income as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

Amount after

Initially presented reclassification as at
in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge amount Reclassification 31 December 2021
Commission income 822,606 167,381 489,887
Commission expense - (167,381) (167,381}

2) Analysis of financial fiabilities by maturities remaining to maturity

The Bank changed the presentation of the analysis of financial liabilities by maturities remaining to maturity as at 31
December 2021 due to the fact that the presentation as of that date was prepared based on the term of the participation
agreement in the funding program.

Less than 3 months 1to Over
f thousaids of Kazakbistani Teuge On demnand 3 monils Lo 1 yeur 5 yeurs 5 years Total

As at 31 Deermnber 2021

Financial Liabilities

Due to credit institutions

Initially presented amount - - - - 8,097,049 8,097,049
Reclassification - 42,500 372,417 3,818,554 (5,383,495} (1,150,024)

Amount after reclassification

42,500 372,417 3,818,554 2,713,554 6,947,025

3} Fair value hierarchy in the previous year's financial statements,

In the previous year's financial statements, the Bank presented cash and cash equivalents as Level 1 in the fair value
hierarchy due to the fact that cash and cash equivalents are available for immediate use and are not af risk of significant
fluctuations in fair value. In this year's financial statements as at 31 December 2022, the Bank disclosed cash and cash
equivalents other than cash as Level 2 in accordance with generally accepted practice. Data as of 31 December 2021
has also been adjusled.

in the previous year's financial statements, the Bank presented loans to customers as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy
due to the assurnption that tho crodit risk on loans to customors was sufficiontly obsorvable in tho market and the fair
value of loans could be determined reasonably reliably from observable sources. [n 2022, the Bank performed
additional analysis and concluded that the use of both observable and non-observable data is necessary to determine
the fair value of borrowings, and therefore decided to present them as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. Data as of
31 December 2021 has also been adjusted.

Fair Value Measurement with the use of
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Date of measurement l.evel 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets for which fair values are disciosed =
Cach and oash oquivalonts

2021 ~ Inltially presented amount 31 Decembar 202 37,745,423 - - 37,145,424
Reclagsification (36,031,260} 36,031,260
2021 - Amount after reclassification 31 December 2021 1,714,163 36,031,260 - 37,745,423
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3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {Continued)

Fair Value Measurement with the use of
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Date of measurement Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets for which fair values are disclosed -
Loans to customers

2021 — Initially presented amount 31 December 2021 - 76,117,986 - 76,117,986
Reclassification - (76,117,986) 76,117,986 -
2021 — Amount after reclassification 3 Decamber 2021 - 76,117,086 76,117,086

4) Additional disclosures not presented in the prior year's financial staternents

In the prior year's financial statements, the Bank did not disclose an analysis of the credit quality of the Bank's financial
assets and credit related commitments, as this information was not expected to be material to users of the financial
statements. In this year's financial statements, this analysis was disclosed, and comparative information as of
31 December 2021 was also presented. In Notes 8, 9, 10 and 24 disclosures that were not presented in the previous
year's financial statemenis are marked ™.

4 Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates

The Bank makes accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts recognized in the financial statements
and the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the next financial year. Accounting estmates and judgments are
subject to ongoing review and are based on management's past experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. In {ha procass of applying accounling
policies, management also makes judgments other than those related to accounting estimates. Judgments that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements and accounting estimates that can
cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year include the
following:

Fair value of financial instruments. Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the
separate statement of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of
valuation techniques that inclide the use of mathematical models. The input to these models is taken from observable
markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values.
Additional details are provided in Note 26.

Deferred income tax asset recognition. The recognized deferred tax asset represents income taxes recoverable
through future deductions from taxable profits, and is rocorded in tho etatomonl of financial position. Deferred incomo
tax assets are recorded to the extent that realization of the related tax beneflt Is probable. [he future taxable profits
and the amount of tax benefits thal are probable in the future are based on a medium-term business plan prepared by
management and extrapolated results thereafter. The business plan is based on management expectations that are
helieved to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Based on the resuits of 2022, the Bank has a tax loss that the Bank can carry forward for 10 years fo reduce faxable
profit in future periods. In accordance with IAS 12, the recognition of deferred tax assets in respect of the carry forward
of unused tax losses is possible if the Bank has a probable future taxable profit against which the Bank can offset
unused tax losses. Due to the tax loss that arose in 2022 only, as at 31 December 2022 the Bank did not recognize a
deferred tax asset in respect of these tax losses. In accordance with IAS 12, at the end of each reporting period, the
Bank reassesses unrecognized deferred tax assets and recognizes any previously unrecognized deferred tax asset to
the extent thal it becomes probable that future faxable profit will offset that deferred tax asset. The amount of
unrecoynized deforred lax asselis presenled in Nole 23.

ECL assessement. The measurement of impairment losses both under IFRS 9 across all categories of financial assefs
requires judgement, in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values
when determining impairment losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are
driven by a number of factors, changes in which can result in different levels of allowances. The Bank’s ECL calculations
are outputs of complex models with a number of underlylng assumptions regarding the choice of variable inpuls and
their interdependencies. Elements of the ECL models that are considered accounting judgements and estimates
include:
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4 Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates {Continued)

« the Bank's criteria for assessing if there has heen a significant increase in credit risk and so allowances for financial
assets should be measured on a LTECL baeie and the qualitative assessment;

¢ the segmentation of financial assets when their ECL is assessed on a colleclive basis;
o development of ECL models, including the various formulas and the choice of inputs;

« determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such as unemployment
levels and collateral values, and the effect on PDs, EADs and LGDs;

o selectlon of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarlos and their probabliity welghtings, to derive the economic
inputs into the ECL model.

More detalls are provided in Notes 10 and 25.

A 10% increase or decrease in the probability of default as at 31 December 2022 would have increased or decreased
the total allowance for expected credit losses by KZT 131,982 thousand (31 December 2021: increase or decrease by
KZT 64,417 thousand). A 10% increase or decrease in loss in case of default as at 31 December 2022 would have
increased or decreased the total allowance for expected credit losses by KZT 64,053 thousand (31 December 2021;
increase or decrease by 79,030 thousand Tenge).

Significant increase in credit risk. To determine whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Bank
compares the risk of default occurring over the life of a financial instrument at the reporting date with the risk of default
occurring at the date of initial recognition. The assessment process considers the relative increase In credit risk rather than
the specihic level of credit nsk at the reporting date. 1he Bank takes into account all reasonable and supportable forward-
locking Information that is avallable without undue cost and effort, including a number of factors, Including the behavioral
aspects of specific client portfolios. The Bank determines behavioral indications of an increase in credit risk prior to default
and includes relevant forward-looking information in credit risk assessments at the individual instrument or portfolio level.
If the ECL on all loans to customers were measured as lifetime ECL (i.e., including those currently in Stage 1 and measured
as 12-month ECL), the allowance for expected credit losses as at 31 December 2022 would have been Tenge 266,490
thousand more (31 December 2021: Tenge 363,851 thousand more).

5 Adoption of New or Revised Standards and Interpretations

Proceeds before intended use, Onerous contracts — cost of fulfilling a contract, Reference fo the Conceptual
Framework — narrow scope amendments to IAS 16, IAS 37 and IFRS 3, and Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2018-2020~ amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41 (issued on 14 May 2020 and effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022).

° The amendment to |1AS 16 prohibits an entity from deducting from the cost of an item of PPE any proceeds
recelved from selling lems produced while the entity 1s preparing the assel for ils inlended use. The proceeds
from selling such items, together with the costs of producing them, are now recognized in profit or loss. An
entity will use IAS 2 to measure the cost of those items. Cost will not include depreciation of the asset being
tested because it is not ready for its intended use. The amendment to |IAS 16 also clarifies that an entity is
‘testing whether the asset is functioning properly’ when it assesses the technical and physical performance of
the asset. The financial performance of the asset is not relevant to this assessment. An asset might therefore
be capable of operating as intended by management and subject {o depreciation before it has achieved the level
of operating performance expected by management.

. The amendment to IAS 37 dlarifies the meaning of ‘costs to fulfil a contract'. The amendment explains that the
direct cost of fulfilling a contract comprises the incremental costs of fuifilling that contract; and an allocation of
other costs that relate directly to {uifilling. The amendment also clarifies that, before a separate provision for an
onetous conlbract is established, an enlily recoygnizes any impainment loss thal has ocsurred on assels used in
fulfilling the contract, rather than on assels dedlealed Lo that contract.

o IFRS 3 was amended lo refer o the 2018 Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, in order to determine
what constitutos an asset or a ability in a business combination. Frior fo tho amondment, IFRS 3 refarred to
the 2001 Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting. In addition, a new exception in IFRS 3 was added for
liabilittes and contingent liabilities. The exception specifies that, for some types of liabilities and contingent
liabilities, an entity applying IFRS 3 should instead refer to |AS 37 or IFRIC 21, rather than the 2018 Conceptual
Framework. Without this new exception, an entity would have recognized some liabilities in a business
combination that it would not recognize under 1AS 37. Therefore, immediately after the acquisition, the entity
would have had to derecognize such liabilities and recognize a gain that did not depict an economic gain. it
was also clarified that the acquirer should not recognize contingent assets, as defined in IAS 37, at the
acquisition date.

. The amendment to IFRS 9 addresses which fees should be included in the 10% test for derecognition of financial
liabilities. Costs or fees could be paid to either third parties or the lender. Under the amendment, costs or fees
paid to third parties will not be included in the 10% test.
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5 Adoption of New or Revised Standards and Interpretations (Continued)

. Hlustrative Example 13 that accompanies IFRS 16 was amended to remove the illustration of payments from
the lessor relating to leasehold improvements. The reascon for the amendment is to remove any potential
confusion about the treatment of lease incentives,

® IFRS 1 allows an exemption if a subsidiary adopts IFRS at a later date than its parent. The subsidiary can
measure its assets and liabilities at the carrying amounts that would be included in its parent's consolidated
financial statements, based on the parent's date of transition to IFRS, if no adjustments were made for
consolidation procedures and for the effects of the business combination in which the parent acquired the
subsidiary. IFRS 1 was amended to allow entfities that have taken this IFRS 1 exemption to also measure
cumulative translation defferences using the amounts reported by the parent, based on the parent's date of
fransition to IFRS. The amendment to IFRS 1 extonds the abovo oxemption to cumulative transiation
differences, In order to reduce costs for first-lime adopters. [hle amendment will also apply to assoclates and
joint ventures that have taken the same IFRS 1 exemption.

e The requirement for entities to exclude cash flows for taxation when measuring fair value under I1AS 41 was
removed. This amendment is intended to align with the requirement in the standard to discount cash flows on a
post-tax basis.

The application of the amendments had no significant impact on the Bank's financial statements.

6 New Accounting Pronouncements

Certain new standards and interpretations have been issued that are mandatory for the annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2023 or later, and which the Bank has not eatly adupled.

Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction — Amendments to I1AS 12 (issued on
7 May 2021 and effective for annual periods beginning on or affer 1 January 2023).° The amendments to IAS 12
specify how to account for deferred tax on transactions such as leases and decommissioning obligations. In specified
circumstances, entities are exempt from recognizing deferred tax when they recognize assets or liabilities for the first time.
Proviously, there had been some uncertainty about whether the exemption applied to transactions such as lcasos and
decommissioning obligations — transactions for which both an asset and a liability are recognized. The amendments clarify
that the exemption does nct apply and those entities are required to recognize deferred tax on such transactions.
The amendments require comparnies to recognize deferred tax on transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal
amounts of taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current -~ Amendments to IAS 1 (issued on 23 January 2020 and
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022). These narrow scope amendments clarify that
liabilities are classified as either current or non-current, depending on the rights that exist at the end of the reporting
period. Liabilities are non-current if the entity has a substantive right, at the end of the reporting period, o defer
settlement for at least twelve months. The guidance no longer requires such a right fo be unconditional. Management's
expectations whether they will subsequently exercise the right to defer settflement do not affect classification of liabilities.
The right to defer only exists if the entity complies with any relevant conditions as of the end of the reporling period. A
liability is classified as current if a condition is breached at or before the reporting date even if a waiver of that condition
is obtained from the lender after the end of the reporting period. Conversely, a loan is classified as non-current if a loan
covenant is breached only after the reporting date. In addition, the amendmenis include clarifying the classification
requirements for debt a company might settle by converting it into equity. ‘Settlement’ is defined as the extinguishment
of a liability with cash, other resources embodying economic benefits or an entity's own equity instruments. There is an
exception for convertible instruments that might be converted into equity, but only for those instruments where the
conversion option is classified as an equity instrument as a separate component of a compound financial instrument.

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current, deferral of effective date - Amendments to IAS 1 (issued
on 15 July 2020 and effective for aunual periods beginning on or after | January 2023). The amendiment tu 1AS
1 on claesification of liabilities as currant or nen-current was issuad in January 2020 with an original effective date 1
January 2022, However, inresponise Lo the Covid- 19 pandaeinic, the offeclive date was delenred by one year Lo provido
companies with more time to implemont classification changes resulting from the amended guidance.

Amendments to IAS 8: Definition of Accounting Estimates (issued on 12 February 2021 and effective for annual

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). The amendment to IAS 8 clarified how companies should distinguish
changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates.
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6 New Accounting Pronouncements (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting policies (issued on 12 February
2021 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). |1AS 1 was amended to require
companies o disclose their material accounting policy information rather than their significant accounting policies. The
amendment provided the definition of material accounting policy information. The amendment also clarified that accounting
policy information is expecied to be material if, without it, the users of the financial statements would be unable to
understand other matenal information in the financial statements. The amendment provided illustrative examples of
accounting policy information that is likely to be considered material to the entity’s financial statements. Further, the
amendment to IAS 1 clarified that immaterial accounting policy information need not be disclosed. However, i it is
disclosed, it should not obscure material accounting policy information.  To support this amendment, IFRS Practice
Statement 2, "‘Making Materiality Judgements’ was also amended to provide guidance on how to apply the concept of
malerialily lo accounting policy disclosures.

IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” (issued on 18 May 2017 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023). IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4, which has given companies dispensation to carry on accounting for
insurance contracts using existing practices. As a consequence, it was difficult for investors to compare and contrast
the financial performance of ctherwise similar insurance companies. IFRS 17 is a single principle-based standard to
account for ali types of insurance contracts, including reinsurance contracts that an insurer holds. The standard requires
recognition and measurement of groups of insurance contracts at: (i) a risk-adjusted present value of the future cash
flows (the fulfilment cash flows) that incorporates all of the available information about the fulfilment cash flows in a way
that is consistent with observable market information; plus (if this value is a liability) or minus (if this valus is an assst)
(iiy an amount representing the unearned profit in the group of contracts (the contractual service margin). Insurers will
be racognizing the profit from a group of insurance contracts over the period they provide insurance coverage, and as
thoy are released from risk. If a group of contracts Is or bocomes lose-making, an enlly will be recognizing the loss
immediately. The Bank plans to apply this standard to ceriain performance guarantees issued by the Bank and is
currently assessing the impact of the new standard on its financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 17 and an amendment to IFRS 4 (issued on 25 June 2020 and effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023). The amendments include a number of clarifications intended fo ease
Implementation of IFRS 17, simplify some requirements of the standard and transition. The amendmenis relate to eight
areas of IFRS 17, and they are not intended to change the fundamental principles of the standard. The following
amendments to IFRS 17 were made:

o Effective date: The effective date of IFRS 17 (incorperating the amendments) has been deferred by two years
to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023; and the fixed cxpiry date of the temporary
exemption from applying IFRS 9 in IFRS 4 has also been deferred to annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023,

. Expected recovery of insurance acquisition cash flows: An entity is required to allocate part of the acquisition
costs to related expected contract renewals, and to recognize those costs as an assel until the entity recognizes
the contract renewals. Entities are required to assess the recoverability of the asset at each reporting date, and
to provide specific information about the asset in the notes to the financial statements.

o Confractual service margin attributable to investrment services: Coverage units should be identified, considering
the quantity of benefits and expected period of hoth insurance coverage and investment services, for contracts
under the variable fee approach and for other contracts with an ‘investment-return service’ under the general
model. Costs related o investment activities should be included as cash flows within the boundary of an
insurance contract, to the extent that the entity performs such activities to enhance benefits from insurance
coverage for the policyholder.

. Reinsurance contracts held — recovery of losses: When an entity recognizes a loss on initial recognition of an
onerous group of undserlying insurance contracts, or on addition of onerous underlying contracts to a group, an
enlily should adjust Hie conbraclual service margin of & 1elaled group of relinsutance conracls hiekd and
recoygnize a gain on the reinsurance contracts held. The amounl of the loss recuvered lrom g reinsurance
conlract held Is determined by mullplying lhe loss recognized on underlying Insurance conlracts and lhe
percentage of claims on underlying insurance contracts that the entity expects to recover from the reinsurance
contract held. This requirement would apply only when the reinsurance contract held is recognized before or at
the same time as the loss is recognized on the underlying insurance contracts.

o Other amendments: Other amendments include scope exclusions for some credit card (or similar} contracts,
and some loan contracts; presentation of insurance contract assets and liabilities in the statement of financial
position in portfolios instead of groups; applicability of the risk mitigation option when mitigating financial risks
using reinsurance contracts held and non-derivative financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss; an
accounting policy choice to change the estimates made in previous interim financial statements when applying
IFRS 17; inclusion of income tax payments and receipts that are specifically chargeable to the policyholder
under the terms of an insurance contract in the fulfiiment cash flows; and selected transition reliefs and other
minor amendments.
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6 New Accounting Pronouncements (Continued)

Transition option for insurers applying IFRS 17 — Amendments to IFRS 17 (issued on 9 December 2021 and
effective for annual periods beginning on or affer 1 January 2023). The amendment to the transition requirements
in IFRS 17 provides insurers with an option aimed at improving the usefulness of information to investors on initial
application of IFRS 17. The amendment relates fo insurers’ transition to IFRS 17 only and does not affect any other
requirsments in [IFRS 17. The transition requirements in IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 apply at different dates and will result in
the following one-time classificalion dilferences in the comparative informalion presented on inilial applicalion of IFRS
17: accounting mismatches between insurance contract liabilities measured at current value and any related financial
assets measured at amortized cost; and if an entity chooses to restate comparative information for IFRS 9, classification
differences between financial assets derecognized in lhe comparalive petiod (lo which IFRS 9 will not apply) and olher
financial assets (to which IFRS 9 will apply). The amendment will help insurers to avoid these temporary accounting
mismatches and, therefore, will improve e useluiness of comparative information for inveslors. IL does this by
prowiding instirees with an option for tho prosontation of comparativo information about financial agsots. Whon initially
aplying IFRS 17, enlilies would, for the purpose of presenting comparative informatlon, be permitted to apply a
classification overlay to a financial assel lor which the enlily does not reslale IFRS 9 comparalive informalion. The
transition option would be available, on an instrument-by-instrument basis; allow an entity to present comparative
information as if the classification and measurement reqguirements of IFRS 9 had been applied to that financial asset,
but not require an entity to apply the impairment requirements of IFRS 9; and require an entity that applies the
classification overlay to a financial asset to use reasonable and supportable information available at the transition date
to determine how the entity expects that financial asset to be classified applying IFRS 9.

Uniess otherwise described above, the new standards and interpretations are not expecled to affect significantly the
Banl’s financial statements.

7 Segment Information

Operating segments are components of the Bank that engage in business activities that may earn revenues or incur
expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker and for which discrete
financial information is available. Management Board of the Bank is the operating decision maker of the Bank.

Description of products and services from which each reportable segment derives its revenue

The Bank is established based on one major business segment — corporate banking, representing direct debit
instruments, current accounts, deposits, overdrafts, loans and other credit instruments and foreign exchange products.
The Bank also conducts retail banking transactions that represent private banking services, private customer current
accounts, savings, deposits, consumer loans.

Segment information for the reportable segments as at 31 December 2022 and for the year ended on that date is set
out helow

Corporate

In thousands of Tenge banking Retail banking Total
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 73,608,146 - 73,608,146
Due from other banks 1,209,370 - 1,209,370
Loans to customers 74,248,904 1,252,708 75,501,612
Total assets of reportable segments 149,066,420 1,252,708 150,319,128
Unallocated amounts 18,044,888
lotal assets 168,364,023
Liabilities

Due to credit institutions 5,108,357 5,108,357
Customer accounts 84,714,683 18,552,121 103,266,804
Total liabilities of reportable segments 89,823,040 18,552,121 108,375,161
Unallecated amounts 1,096,703
Total liabilities 109,471,864
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7 Segment information (Continued)

Corporate

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge banking Retail banking Total
Interest income calculated using effective interest rate 11,226,368 763,792 11,990,180
Other interest income - - -
Interest expense (2,638,096) (192,461} (2,830,557)
Net interest income 8,588,292 571,331 9,159,623
Expected credit losses expense {21,289,901) (72,118) (21,362,019)
Net interest income after expected credit losses

GAPENSe {12,701,609) 499,213 (12,202,396)
Fee and commission income 938,788 319,136 1,257,924
Fee and commission expense (285,299) - (285,299}
Net gains from transactions in foreign currencies:
- dealing
- translation differences 3,104,629 - 3,104,629
Fee and commission income 43,755 - 43,755
Other income 176,368 - 176,368
Administrative and other operating expenses {2,763,369) - (2,763,369}
Segment resuits (11,486,737} 818,349 (10,668,388)
Curporate income lax expense 15,921
Profit for the year {10,652,467)

Segment information for the reportable segments as at 31 December 2021 and for the year ended on that date is set

out below:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge

Corporate
banking

Retail hanking

Total

Assets
Cash and cash oquivalonts

37,745,423

37,746,423

Due from other banks 1,076,701 - 1,076,701
Receivables under reverse repurchase agreements 74,761,580 1,037,247 75,798,827
Total assets of reportable segments 113,583,704 1,037,247 114,620,951
Unallocated amounts 18,014,410
Total assets 132,635,361
L iabilitios

Due to credit institutions 5,102,162 - 5,102,162
Customer accounts 77,815,220 12,917,261 a0,732.471
Total liabilities of reportable segments 82,917,382 12,917,251 95,834,633
Unaliccated amounts 1,011,811
Total liabilities 06,846,444
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7 Segment Information {Continued)

Corporate
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge banking  Retail banking Total
— Interest income calculated using effective interest rate 8,033,731 370,700 8,404,431
' Other interest income
Interest expense (1,887,208) (337,618} (2,224,826)
“””f Net interest income 6,146,523 33,082 6,179,605
j Cxpectad credit losses expense (2,417,688) 106,368 (2,311,322)
Net interest income after expected cradit losses
expense 3,728,835 139,448 3,868,283
Fee and commnlsslon Income 751,461 238,426 989,88/
= Fee and commission expense (167,381} - (167,381}
Net gains from transactions in foreign currencies:
- dealing 955,075 - 955,075
- revaluation of currency items 2,141 - 2,141
7 Other income 180,968 . 180,968
Administrative and cother operating expenses (2,260,799} (451) (2,261,250}
ey Segment results 3,190,300 377,423 3,667,723
— Corporate income tax expense {828,408)
2 Profit for the year 2,739,315

Income of the Bank, other than interest income from deposits with other banks, is generated in the Republic of
Kazakhstan. Geographic areas of the Bank’s activities are presented in Note 25 to these separate financial statements
on the basis of the actual location of the counterparty, i.e., on the basis of economic risk rather than legal risk of the
counterparty. The Bank has no customers, which would bring more than ten percent of the total income earned in 2022
and 2021.

8 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of the following:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Current accounts with the NBRK 683,353 7,931,442
L. Current accounts with other banks 12,493,062 5,934,931
Time deposits with NBRK up to 80 days 48,279,218 5,901,434
- Time deposits with Credit Institutions up to 90 days 10,182,528 1,238,068
{ i Cash on hand 1,973,972 1,714,163
Reverse repurchase agreements - 15,026,141
Ei Total cash and cash equivalents 73,612,133 37,746,170
t.ess ECL. allowance {3,987) (747)
Total cash and cash equivalents 73,608,146 37,745,423
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8 Cash and Cash Equivalents (Continued)

All balances of cash and cash equivalents are allocated to Stage 1. An analysis of changes in the ECL allowances
during the year is, as follows:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1
As at 31 December 2020 (1,529)
Change in ECL for the year 858
Foreign exchange differences (76)
As at 31 December 2021 {747)
Change In ECL for the year (3,263)
Foreign exchange differences 23
As at 31 December 2022 (3,987)

The table below provides an analysis of cash and cash equivalents by credit quality as at 31 December 2022:

Cash balances
with the NBRK,

including lime deposits Courrespondent
mandatory with Other  accounts with
I thousanids of Kazokhstaud Tetige regerves Banks other banks Total
Neither past due not inpaired
- NBRK (BBB- rated) 48,962,571 - - 48,962,571
- BBB- to BBB+ rated - - 407,812 407,812
- BB- to BB+ rated - 7,865,924 9,385,304 17,251,228
- B- to B+ rated - 2,316,604 2,699,946 5,016,550
Gross carrying amount 48,962,571 10,182,528 12,493,062 71,638,161
ECL allowance - (92) (3,895) (3,987)
Total cash and cash equivalents,
excluding cash on hand 48,962,571 10,182,436 12,489,167 71,634,174

The Bank assesses the credit quality of cash and cash equivalents based on external ratings assigned to banks by
independent international rating agencies: S&P, Moody's and Fitch.

For the purposes of measuring expected credit losses, cash and cash equivalent balances are included in Stage 1 as
at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021. The approach to measuring expected credit losses is described in Note
25.

Sea Note 20 for the measurement of the falr value of cash and cash equivalents.
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8 Cash and Cash Equivalents {Continued)

The table below provides an analysis of cash and cash equivalents by credit quality as at 31 December 2021™:

Cash
balances
with the
NBRK, Corresponde
including Time nfaccounts Reverse
mandatory deposits with with other  repurchase
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge reserves  Other Banks banks agreements Total
Neither past due nor itnpaired
NEBRK {BEBEB ratod) 13,832,878 13,832,876
- BBB- to BBB1 rated - - 1,574,106 16,026,141 16,603,24/
- BB- to BB+ rated - 1,238,059 4,311,079 - 5,549,138
= not rated - - 46,746 - 46,746
Gross carrying amount 13,832,876 1,238,059 5,934,931 15,026,141 36,032,007
ECL. allowance - (168) (579) - (747)
Total cash and cash equivalents,
excluding cash on hand 13,832,876 1,237,891 5,934,352 15,026,141 36,031,260

*This disclosure was nol presenled in previous year's financial statemenls.
Collateral

As at 31 December 2022, the Bank had no receivables under reverse repurchase agreements. As at 31 December
2021, receivables under reverse sale and repurchase agreements were secured by the following securities:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2021
Notes of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan 8,435,200
Bonds of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan 3,984,000
Bonds of the Eurasian Bank 3,339,000

15,758,200

Minimum reserve requirernents ;

Under Kazakh legislation, the Bank is required to maintain reserve assets, which are computed as a percentage of
certain liabilities of the Bank. Such reserves must be held on the current account with the NBRK or physical cash
computed based on average monthly balances of the aggregate of cash balances on current account with the NBRK
andfor physical cash in national currency during the period of reserve creation. As at 31 December 2022, obligatory
reserves amounted to 2,949,732 thousand Tenge (as at 31 December 2021: 2,648,455 thousand Tenge).

9 Due from Other Banks

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Due from other banks 1,209,685 1,078,770
Less ECL allowance (315) {3,069)
Total due from other banks 1,209,370 1,076,701

As at 31 December 2022, the Bank had a deposit in ZIRAAT Bank Uzbekistan JSC in the amount of 2,500,000 US
Dollars or in the equivalent amounted to 1,156,625 thousand Tenge (as at 31 December 2021 the balance was
2,500,000 US Dollars or 1,079,770 thousand Tenge).
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9 Due from Other Banks (Continued)

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1

ECL aliowance as at 31 December 2020 {1,504)
Change in ECL during the year (1,495)
Foreign exchange differences (70)
ECL allowance as at 31 December 2021 (3,069)
Change in ECL during the year 2,969

Forelgn exchange dilferences (215)
ECL allowance as at 31 December 2021 (315)

The table below provides an analysis of deposits with banks by credit quality as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December
2021:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Neither past due nor impaired

B- rated 1,209,370 1,076,701
Total amount due from other banks 1,209,370 1,076,701

*This disclosure was not presented in previous year's financial statements..

The Bank assesses the credit quality of deposits in banks based on external ratings assigned to banks by independent
International rating agencies: S&P, Moody's and Fiich.

For the purposes of measuring expected credit losses, bank balances are included in Stage 1 as at 31 December 2022
and 31 December 2021. The Bank creates a credit loss allowance for deposits with banks.

See Note 26 for fair value measurements of deposits with banks.
10 Loans to Customers

Loans to customors comprigo of the following:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Leans to small and medium businesses 58,073,297 66,824,723
Loans to major customers 25,496,046 15,160,204
Mortgage loans 1,222,860 960,850
Censumer loans 239,860 211,351

Total carrying amount of loans to customers measured at

amortized cost before ECL. 83,032,063 83,157,128
Less ECL allowance (7,530,451) (7,358,301)
Total loans to customers 75,501,612 75,798,827

As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Bank classtfies loans to customers with an average annual number of employees
of more than twe hundred and fifty people and (or) an average annual income of more than three million monthly
calculation index as of the loan issuance date as "loans issued to large customers”; customers with an average annual
number of employees of no more than two hundred and fifty people and (or) an average annual income of no more than
three million monthly calculated indicators as of the date of issuance of the loan, as "loans issued to small and medium-
sized businesses.” The monthly calculation index as at 31 December 2022 was KZT 3,180 (31 December 2021: KZT
2.917). L.oans granted to individuals secured by real estate are classified by the Bank as "mortgage loans”. All other loans
to individuals are classified by the Bank as "consumer loans”.
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10 Loans to Customers (Continued)

ECL allowance on loans to customers measured at amortized cost. An analysis of changes in the gross carrying
value and correspending ECL in relation to lending to major customers during the year ended 31 December 2022 is as

follows:

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Loans to major customers
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2022 3,832,155 3,719,466 7,808,583 15,160,204
Changes affecting credit loss allowance charges for the

period:
New originated or purchased 25,008,020 : 25,006,020
Transfers to other categories 7,283,999 (2,680,010) - 4,613,989
Berecognition during the periad (10,062,037} {1,077,959) - (11,138,996)
Transfors o Stage 1 12,402 (12,402)
Iransfers lo Slage 2 (387,803) 387,603 - -
Transfers to Stage 3 - - - -
Net change in accrued interest 144,388 (161,319} 4,909 (12,022)
Total changes affecting credit loss allowance charge

for the period 22,006,178 (3,544,087} 4,809 18,467,000
Changoa that do not offecf aredit logs allowenoce charges for

the petiod;
Write-offs - - (9,176,340) (0,176,340}
Positive and negative forelgn exchange differences (317,666) - 1,362,848 1,045,182
As at 31 December 2022 25,320,667 175,379 - 25,496,046
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Loans to major customers
ECI. as at 1 January 2022 (25,502} (29,662) {1,400,315) (1,455,479)
Changes affecting credit loss allowance charges for the

period:
New originated or purchased (202,961) - - (202,961
Transfers to other categories (54,172) 27,371 - {26,801)
Derecognition during the period 20,271 2,124 - 22,395
Transfers to Stage 1 {138) 138 - -
Transfers to Stage 2 2,398 (2,398) - -
Transfers to Stage 3 - - - -
Change in ECL as a result of transfers between Stages or

changes in source data 112,414 1,349 {7.571,076) (7,457,313)
Total changes affecting credit loss allowance charge

for the pericd (122,188) 28,584 (7,571,076} (7,664,680)
Chanyes that do nol affect credit luss aflowanive charges fol

the petiod:
Write offs 8,176,340 0,176,340
Positive and negative foreign exchange differences (2,067) - (204,949} (207,016)
As at 31 December 2022 (149,757} (1,078} - {150,835)
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10 Loans to Customers {Continued)

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying value and corresponding ECL in relation to lending to smal! and medium
businesses during the year ended 31 December 2022 is as follows:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Loans to small and medium businesses
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2022 46,643,715 6,507,933 13,673,075 66,824,723
Changes affecting credit loss allowance charges for the

peariod:
New originated or purchased 47,697,169 - - 47,697,169
Transfers to other categories (7,293,999) 2,680,010 - (4.613,989)
Derecognition during the period (39,028,604) (4,162,412} {1,238,168) {44,429,184)
Transfers to Stage 1 4,241,688 (4,241,688) - -
Transfers to Stage 2 (8,812,402) 9,219,732 {407,270) -
Transfers to Slage 3 (9,975,224) (2,707,734} 12,682,958 -
Net change in accrued interest 1,704,992 929,224 (2,572,989) 61,227
Total changes affecting credit loss allowance charge

for the period (11,466,440} 1,717,132 8,464,531 (1,284,777)
Changes that do not affect credit loss altowance charges for

the period:
Write-olfs - - (12,423,120} (12,423,120)
Compensations 30,068 36,068
Posilive and negalive foieign exchange dillerences 1,092,227 120,444 1,704,742 2,917,413
As at 31 December 2022 36,269,502 8,345,509 11,458,286 56,073,297
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Loans fo small and medium businesses
ECL as at 1 January 2022 {389,189) {252,027) {5,126,652) (5,767,868)
Changes affecting credit loss allowance charges for the

period:
New orlginated or purchasoed {1,794,238) - (1.794,235)
Transters to other categories 54,172 (2/7,311) - 26,801
Deracognition during the period 84,370 64,645 230,214 379,229
Transfers to Stage 1 (68,211} 58,211 - -
Transfers to Stage 2 96,944 (170,944) 74,000 -
Transfers to Stage 3 351,193 29,227 {380,420} -
Change in ECL as a result of transfers between Stages or

changes in source data 968,024 {182,874) {12,891,682) (12,106,532)
Total changes affecting credit loss allowance charge

for the period (297,743) (229,106) (12,967,888) {13,494,737)
Changes that do not affect credit loss allowance charges for

the periad:
Wrlle-ofls - - 12,423,120 12,424,120
Compensations - (39,058) (ﬂﬁ.ﬂﬁﬂ;
Paositive and negative foreign exchange differences (312) (6,470) (284,270} (261,081
As at 31 December 2022 {687,244} (487,612) (5,994,748} (7,169,604)
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10 Loans to Customers (Continued)

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying value and corresponding ECL in relation to consumer lending during the

year ended 31 December 2022 is as follows:

I thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Tota!
Consumer loans
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2322 60,313 7,706 143,332 241,351
Changes affacting credit lnss allowance charges for the

period:
New originated or purchased 450,821 - - 450,821
Deracognition during the period {288,427} (7,928) {127,092} (423,447)
Transfers to Stage 1 7,387 {7,387} - -
Tranefare to Stago 2 {10,323) 10,323 - -
Translers to Stage 3 - - - -
Net change in accrued interest (2,772) 2,755 17 -
Total changes affecting credit loss allowance charge

for the period 156,686 (2,237) {127,075) 27,374
Changes that do not affect credit loss allowance charges for

the period:
Compansations - - 108 108
Pogitive and negalive foreign exchange differences 662 237 128 1,027
As at 31 December 2022 217,661 5,706 16,493 239,860
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Totai
Consumer loans
ECL as at 1 January 2022 {504) {70) (77,357) {77.931)
Changes affecting credit loss alfowance charges for the

period:
New originated or purchased (3,630) - - (3,630}
Derecognition during the period 147 1 49,887 50,035
Transfars lo Stage 1 (68) 68 - -
I ranstfers to Stage 2 47 (47} - -
Transfers to Stage 3 - - - -
Change in ECL as a resuit of transfers between Stages or

changes in source data 1,473 (25) 11,214 12,662
Total changes affecting credit loss allowance charge

for the period (2,031} (3) 61,101 59,067
Changes that do not affect credit loss allowance charges for

the period:
Compensations - - (108} (108)
Positive and negative foreign exchange differences {8) 3) (128) {139)
As at 31 December 2022 (2,543) (76) {16,492) {19,111)
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10 Loans to Customers (Continued)

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying value and corresponding ECL in relation to mortgage lending during the

year ended 31 December 2022 is as follows:

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Mortgage loans
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2022 550,812 313,449 96,589 960,850
Changes affecting credit loss allowance charges for the

period:
New originated or purchased 788,211 - - 788,211
Doreocognition during tho period (373,622) (115,225) {44.,438) (533,283)
Transfers to Stage 1 99,911 (95,540} (4,371) -
Transfors te Stage 2 (45,766) 57,340 (11,603) -
Transfets lo Slage 3 {128,880) {101,884} 228,664
Net change In accrued interest (72,955) 72,431 530 6
Total changes affecting credit loss allowance charge

for the period 269,109 (182,869) 168,694 254,934
Changes that do not affact credit loss allowance charges for

the period:
Posilive and negative foreign oxchango differoncos 1.526 - 5,550 7,076
As at 31 December 2022 821,447 130,580 270,833 1,222,860
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Mortgage loans
ECL as at 1 January 2022 (3,109} (46,566) (7,348) (57,023)
Changes affecting credit loss allowance charges for the

period:
New originated or purchased {54,293) - - {54,293)
Derecognition during the period 1,010 3 - 1,013
Transfers to Stage 1 {1,301) 260 1,041 -
Transfers to Stage 2 430 (3,117} 2,687
‘Transters to Stage 3 44,921 48,514 (82,735) -
Change in ECL as a result of transfers between Stages or

changes in source data 3,496 10,167 (91,568) (77,905)
Total changes affecting credit loss allowance charge

for the period (6,737) 46,127 (170,575) {131,185)
Changes that do not affect credit loss allowance charges for

the period:

Positive and negative foreign exchange differences - - (2,693) (2,693}
As at 31 Decembar 2022 (0,848) {430) (180,610) {190,801)
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10 Loans to Customers (Confinued)

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying value and corresponding ECL in relation to lending to major customers
- during the year ended 31 December 2021 is as follows:

A in thousands of Kazakhsfeni Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Loans to major customers

. Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2021 5,391,472 6,069,652 - 11,461,124
_ Chanqges affecting credif loss allowance charges for the
period:
New originated or purchased 6,826,196 - - 6,826,196
Transfers from other catogorios 2,763,782 : 2,753,782
Derecognition during the period (4,319,235) (3,001,618) - {7,320,853)
Transfers to Stage 1 438,830 (439,830} - -
Transfers to Stage 2 (2,678,768) 2,878,768 - -
—t Transfers to Stage 3 (2,571,462) (4.724,793) 7,296,255 -
Net change in accrued interest 534,915 376,088 407,488 1,318,491
Total changes affecting credit loss allowance charge
e for the period {1,768,522) {(2,357,605) 7,703,743 3,577,616
-~ Changes that do not affect credit loss allowance charges for
the period:
Pouslive and negalive foreign exchange dilferences 9,205 7,419 104,840 121,404
. As at 31 December 2021 3,632,155 3,719,466 7,808,583 15,160,204
- In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
— Loans to major customers
ECL as at 1 January 2021 (92,709) (142,541) - (235,250)
_ Changes affecting credit loss allowance charges for the
period:
New originated or purchased {32,133) - - (32,133)
" Transfers from other categories - {27,371) - (27,371}
Dorogognition during tho poriod 4,864 282 - 5176
s lransfers o Slage 1 {4,581) 4,581 - -
: Transfers to Stage 2 4,024 (4,024) - -
L. Transfers to Stage 3 77,780 137,471 (215,251) -
Change in ECL as a result of ransfers between Stages or
changes in source data 17,261 1,867 (1,136,032} (1,116,804)
k.. Total changes affecting credit loss allowance charge
for the period 67,245 112,906 {(1,351,283) {1,171,132)
Changes that do not affect credit loss allowance charges for
Eum the period:
Positive and negative foreign exchange differences (38) (27) (49,032) (49,087}
As at 31 December 2021 (25,502) {29,662) (1,400,315) (1,455,479)
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10 Loans to Customers {Continued)

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying value and corresponding ECL in relation to lending to small and medium
businesses during the year ended 31 December 2021 is as follows:

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Loans to small and medium businesses
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2021 14,223,790 15,085,497 14,305,525 43,614,812
Changes affecting credit loss allowance charges for the

pericd:
New originated or purchased 53,452,012 - - 53,452,072
Transfers to other categories : (2,753,782) - {2,763,782)
Derecognition during the period (23,472,040) (8,658,848} (1,809,688} {33,740,375)
Transfers to Stage 1 2,762,820 (2,762,820} - -
Transfers to Stage 2 (2,706,623) 4,272,669 (1,566,046) -
Transfers to Stage 3 (887,300} {132,232} 1,019,532 -
Net change in accrued interest 2,792,582 1,421,897 1.011,156 5,225,735
Total changes affecting credit loss allowance charge

for the period 31,941,511 (8,612,814) {1,145,047) 22,183,650
Changes that do not affect credit loss allowance charges for

the period"
Positive and negative foreign exchange differences 478,414 35,250 512,597 1,026,261
As at 31 Decemnber 2021 46,643,715 6,507,933 13,673,075 66,824,723
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Loans to small and medium businesses
ECL as at 1 January 2021 {182,651) {204,199} (4,322,964) (4,709,814)
Changes affecting credit loss allowance charges for the

pericd:
New ariginated or purchased (539,503) - - (5639,503)
Transfers to other categories - 27,371 - 27,371
BDerecognition during the period 32,709 47,937 182,845 263,491
Translers lo Slaye [ (26,994 26,994 - -
Transfers to Stage 2 10,397 (752,888) 742,691 -
Transfers to Stage 3 22,786 55,271 {78,057} -
Change in ECL as a result of transfers between Stages or

changes in source data 287,361 561,302 (1,586,331) (727,668)
Total changes affecting credit loss allowance charge

for the period (203,244) (34,113) (738,952) (976,309)
Changes that do not affect credit loss allowarice charges for

the period:
Positive and negative foreign exchange differences (3.284) {13,715) (64,736) (81,745}
As at 31 December 2021 {389,189) (252,627) {5,126,652) {%,767,868)
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10 Loans to Customers (Continued)

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying value and corresponding ECL in relation to consumer lending during the

year ended 31 December 2021 is as follows:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Consumer foans
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2021 58,668 73,830 296,784 429,282
Changes affecting cradit loss allowance charges for the
eriod:

l\ﬁ:w originated or purchased 95,121 - - 95,121
Derecognition during the period (202,215) (119,389) {150,940} (472,544}
Transfers to Stage 1 591 {591} - -
Transfers to Stage 2 (13,915) 13,915 - -
Transfers to Etage 3 (11,064) : 11,064
Net change in accrued interest 133,665 39,775 {14,496) 158,944
Total changes affecting credit loss allowance charge

for the period 1,283 (66,290) (153,472) {218,479)
Changes that do not affect credit loss alfowance charges for

the period:
Posliive and negalive lorelgn exchange differences 382 166 20 548
Asg at 31 Decombar 2021 60,313 7,706 143,332 211,361
in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Consumer loans
ECL as at 1 January 2021 {460) (391) (128,183) {129,034)
Changes affecting credit loss allowance charges for the

period:
New originated or purchased (9,555) - - (9.555)
Derecognition during the period 446 7.784 65,481 73,721
Transfers to Stage 1 () 9 - -
Transfers to Stage 2 75 (75) - -
Iranslers W Slayo 3 26,7189 - (26,780) -
Change in ECL as a result of transfers between Stages or

changes in source data (17,787} (7,396) 12,169 (13,014)
Totai changes affecting credit loss allowance charge

for the period {41) 322 50,871 51,152
Changes that do nof affect credit Ioss aflowance charges for

the period:
Positive and negative foreign exchange differences {3) (n {45) (49)
As at 31 Dacombar 2021 (504) {70} (77.357) {77.931)
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10 Loans to Customers (Continued)

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying value and corresponding ECL in relation to mortgage lending during the
year ended 31 December 2021 is as follows:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Mortgage loans
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2021 574,279 399,416 231,503 1,205,198
Changes affecting credit loss allowance charges for the

period:
New originated or purchased 670,358 - - 670,358
Derecagnition during the period (440,172) (193,147) {196,691} (830,010}
‘Transfers {0 Stage 1 132,040 (126,688) (5,352} -
Transfers to Stage 2 (129,826) 222,056 (92,230}
Transfers to Stage 3 (158,482) - 158,482 -
Net change in accrued interest {98,205) 8,780 (12,386} (100,901)
Total changes affecting credit loss allowance charge

for the period (24,377) (87,999) (148,177} (260,553)
Changes that do not affect credit loss allowance charges for

the period:
Posilive und negalive forelgn exchange differences 910 2,032 13,263 10,205
As at 31 Dacember 2021 550,812 313,449 96,589 960,850
in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Mortgage loans
ECL as at 1 January 2021 {1,257) {8,450) (82,182} (91,889)
Changes affecting credit loss allowance charges for the

period:
New originated or purchased (71,503) - - (71,503)
Derecognition during the period 195 39 104,043 104,277
Transfers to Stage 1 (1,743) 446 1,297 -
Transfers to Stage 2 7,748 (47,194) 39,446 -
Nanslers to Slage 3 12,871 - (72,871} -
Change in ECL as a result of transfers between Stages or

changes in source data (9,179) 9,540 5,584 5,955
Total changes affecting credit loss allowance charge

for the period {1,611) (37,169) 77,500 38,729
Changes that do not affect credit loss aflowance charges for

the period:
Paositive and negative foreign exchange differences {241) (947) (2.675) (3,863)
As at 31 Decembar 2021 (3,108) (46,566) {7.348) (67,023)

The lable below provides an analysls of credil rsl for loans lo customers measured al amorlized cost, for whigh an
allowance for expected credit losses has been recognized. In the table below, the carrying amount of loans to customers
also reflects the Bank's maximum exposure to credit risk on these loans.
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10 Loans to Customers {Continued)

The following is an analysis of the credit quality of loans to major customers measured at amortized cost as at

31 December 2022:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
{12-months  (lifetime ECL  (lifetime ECL
ECL) from SICR)  for credit im-
in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge paired} Total
Loans to major customers
A lo AAA raled 20,405,933 - - 20,405,933
B to BBB rated 4,805,954 175,379 - 5,081,333
Not rated 8,780 - - 8,780
Gross carrylng amount 25,320,667 175,379 - 25,496,046
Credit loss allowance (149,757) (1,078) - {150,835)
Carrying amount 25,170,910 174,301 - 25,345,211

Below is an analysis of the credil quality of loans issued to smalt and medium businesses, measured at amortized

cost, as at 31 December 2022:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
{12-months  {lifetime ECL  (lifetime ECL
ECL) from SICR)  for credit im-
in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge paired} Total
Loans to small and medium businesses
A to AAA rated 11,195,012 - - 11,195,012
B io BBB rated 20,536,030 299,775 - 20,835,805
C to CCC rated 35,063 8,045,734 11,118,504 19,199,301
D rated - - 304,071 304,071
Not rated 4,503,397 - 35,711 4,539,108
Gross carrying amount 36,269,502 8,345,500 11,458,286 56,073,297
Credit loss allowance (687,244) (487,612) (5,994,748) (7,169,604}
Carrying amount 35,582,258 7,857,897 5,463,538 48,903,693
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10 Loans to Customers (Continued)

Below is an analysis of the credit quality of consumer loans measured at amortized cost as at 31 December 2022:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
- (12-months  (lifetime ECL  (lifetime ECL
= ECL) from SICR}  for credit im-
- In thousands of Kacakhstar Tenge paired) Total
Consumer loans
Not rated 217,661 5,700 16,493 239,860
Gross carrying amount 217,661 5,706 16,493 239,860
Credit loss allowance (2,543) (76} (16,492) (19,111)
!
: Carrying amount 215,118 5,630 1 220,749
~ Below is an analysis of the credit quality of mortgage loans measured at amortized cost as at 31 December 2022;
2 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
{12-months  (lifetime EGL (lifetime ECL
ECL) from SICR)  for credit im-
: I (housands of Kazakhstani Tepgg paired) Total
i Mortgage loans
5 Not rated 821,447 130,580 270,833 1,222,860
Gross carrying amount 821,447 130,580 270,833 1,222,860
» Credit loss allowance (9,846) (439) (180,616) {190,801}
Carrying amount 811,601 130,141 90,217 1,031,958
a Below is an analysis of the credit quality of loans to major customers, measured at amortized cost, as at 31 December
. 2021*
; Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
(12-months  {lifetime ECL  (lifetime ECL
ECL) from SICR)  for credit im-
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge paired) Total
- Loans to major customers
A to AAA rated - 1,027,453 - 1,027,453
- B to BBB rated 3,832,185 2,680,009 - 6,312,164
- C to CCC rated - - 7,808,583 7,808,583
Not rated 12,004 12,004
Gross carrying amount 3,632,168 3,110,466 1,808,683 16,160,204
Credit loss allowance (25,502) (29,662) (1,400,315) (1,455,479)
- Carrying amount 3,606,653 3,689,804 6,408,268 13,704,725

*This disclosure was not presented in previous year's financial statements..
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10 Loans to Customers (Continued)

Below is an analysis of the credit quality of loans to small and medium businesses, measured at amortized cost, as at

31 Pecember 2021*;

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
(12-months  {lifetime ECL  {lifetime ECL
ECL) from SICR)  for credit im-

in thousands of Kazalhstani Tenge paired) Total

Loans fo small and medium businesses

Alo AAA rated 1,606,026 - - 1,606,026

B to BBB rated 24 507.626 5,159,620 - 29,667,146

C to CCC rated 13,153,855 1,257,363 9,066,444 23,477,662

D rated - - 4,572,377 4,572,377

Not rated 1,376,208 91,050 34,254 1,501,512

Gross carrying amount 46,643,715 6,507,933 13,673,075 66,824,723

Credit loss allowance (389,189) {252,027) (5,126,652) {5,767,868)
Carrying amount 46,254,526 6,255,906 8,546,423 61,056,855

*This disclosure was not presented in previous year's financial statements.

Below is an analysis of the credit quality of consumer loans measured at amortized cost as at 31 December 2021*:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
(12-months  (lifetime ECL  (lifetime ECL
ECL) from SICR}  for credit im-

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge paired) Total
Consumer loans

Not rated 60,313 7,706 143,332 211,351
Gross carrying amount 60,313 7,706 143,332 211,351
Credit loss allowance (504) (70) (77,357) (77,931)
Carrying amount 59,809 7,636 65,975 133,420

*This disclosure was not presented in previous year's financial statements.

Below is an analysis of the credit quality of mortgage loans measured at amortized cost as at 31 December 2021*:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
(12-months  (lifetime ECL  ({lifetime ECL
ECL) from SICR)  for credit im-

In thousands of Kazakfistani [enge palred) lotal

Mortgage loans

Not rated 550,812 313,449 96,589 960,850

Gross carrying amount 550,812 313,449 96,589 960,850

Credit loss allowance (3,109) (46,5686) {7,348) (57,023}
Carrying amount 547,703 266,883 89,241 903,827

*This disclosure was not presented in previous year's financial statements.
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10 Loans to Customers (Continued)

Modified and restructured loans. A bank derecognizes a financial asset, such as a loan to a customer, if the terms of
the contract are renegotiated so that in effect it becomes a new loan and the difference is recognized as a derecognition
gain or loss before an impairment loss is recognized. On initial recognition, loans are treated as Stage 1 for ECL purposes
unless the originated loan is considered an POCI asset.

if the modification does not result in a significant change in cash flows, the modification does not resuit in derecognition.
Based on the change in cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate, the Bank recognizes a modification
gain or loss hefore an impairment loss is recagnized.

The table below shows the Stage 2 and Stage 3 assets that were renegotiated during the period and which are
accounted for as restructured as a result, reflecting the corresponding effect of the modifications incurred by the Bank

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2022 2021
Gross value ol loans Lo custormers modified during the year 6,725,435 13,895,404
Amortized cost before modification 6,499,131 8,872,647
Net (loss)/gain on modification 497,694 (5,362)

Collateral and other mechanisms to improve credit qualify. The amount and lype of collaleral requited by the Bank
doponde on an assossmont of the credit risk of the countorparty. Guidelinos are implemanted regarding the
acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters.

The main types of collateral cbtained are as follows:

s [or commercial lending — charges over real estale properlles, Invenlory and accounis receivable,
+ for retail lending — charges over residential properties.
The Bank also obtains guarantees from parent companies for loans to their subsidiaries. Management monitors the

market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the underiying agreement during its review
of the adequacy of the allowance for impaiment.

In absence of collateral or other credit enhancements, ECL in respect of Stage 3 loans to customers as at
31 December 2022 and 2021 would have been higher by:

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 Pecember 2022 31 December 2021
Loans to small and major customers* - 6,408,268
Loans to small and medium businesses 3,236,310 8,546,423
Consumer loans - 65,975
Mortgage loans - 89,241

3,236,310 15,109,907

*This amount was not presented in previous year's financial statements.

Duwring the year, lhe Bank ook possesslon of different assels In exchange of debis of respeclive burrowers. The Bank
13 1n the proocas of selling of those asscta. it 18 the Bank's policy to dispose of repossessed properties in an orderly
fashion. 'The proceeds are used to reduce or repay the outstanding claim. Generally, the Dank does not occupy
reposseseed properties for businese use. The carrying value of the ascets repossessed during the perlod and held as
al the repurling dale 1s as follows.

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Land 626,898 3,503,660
Buildings 123,362 787,222
Total repossessed collateral 750,260 4,290,882

37



Associated Bank Kazakhstan — Ziraat International Bank JSC
Nofes to the Separate Financial Stafements for the year ended 31 December 2022

10 Loans to Customers (Continued)

During 2022 and 2021 the Bank did not obtain any property by taking control of collateral for loans to customers.

Concentration of loans to customers. As at 31 December 2022, the Bank had ten major borrowers, which accounted
for 2% (31 December 2021: 66%) of the total amount of loan to customers before allowance for expected credit losses.
The total aggregate amount of these loans was 51,644,772 thousand Tenge (on 31 December 2021: 55,136,817

thousand Tenge).

Loans are primarlly lssued to cllents in the Republlc of ICazalkhsatan oparating In the following asctors of the economy:

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 Decernbier 2022 31 December 2021
Construction of commercial and residenlal property 18,622,265 21,737,678
Trade 13,767,628 14,881,161
Hotal and hospitality 9,608,396 10,004,937
Manulacluring 8,125,471 9,586,785
Leases 7,547,070 11,772,788
Construction of educational facilities 4,535,412 4,526,502
Individuals 1,462,720 1,172,201
Agriculture 1,361,033 1,188,800
OCther 18,002,068 8,286,276
Total [oans to customers before allowance for ECL 83,032,083 83,187,128

Loans to individuals are represented by consumer and morigage lending.
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11 Property and Equipment

The movements in property and equipment were as follows:

Buildings
. and Office and
: construc-  computer Right-of-
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Land tions equipment Vehicles Other use assets Total
Initial cost or revaluation
w’ As at 1 January 2021 54,368 9,577,490 27,977 1,525 258,646 558,205 11,178,212
Additlons - - 70,122 - 31,502 331,856 433,480
- Dieposale (46,310) (10,920) (23,045) (162,324}  (243,517)
As at 31 December 2021 754,368  9,531,1M1 87,170 1,525 266,203 727,737 11,368,175
Additions - 1,028,279 25,690 - 31,462 6,907 1,082,338
. Disposals - (13,796) (3,649) - {74,161) {2,590) (91,196)
Impact of revaluation 55,334 264,302 - - - - 319,636
As at 31 December 2022 809,703 10,809,956 109,211 1,525 226,504 732,054 12,688,953
> Accumulated depreciation
e As at 1 January 2021 - (98,211) {11,408) - (107,414} (227,881}  (444,914)
Nepraciation and Impalrment - (34,317) (29,841) - (51,896} (141,514} (257,868)
e Disposals - 46,319 10,929 - 16,660 142,524 216,432
- As at 31 December 2021 - (86,209) (30,320} - (142,750} {226,871) {486,150)
Depreciation and impairment . (34,317) (37,164) - {49,355)  (138,036)  (258,872)
: Disposals - 13,796 3,649 - 71,161 - 88,606
As at 31 December 2022 - {106,730) (63,835) - (120,944} (364,907} (656,416)
— Net book value
As at 31 December 2020 754,369 9,479,279 16,569 1,525 151,232 330,324 10,733,298
As at 31 December 2021 754,369 9,444,962 56,850 1,525 123,453 500,866 10,882,025
: As at 31 December 2022 809,703 10,703,226 45,376 1,525 105,560 367,147 12,032,537
- l-air value of land and buildings is estimaled based on Lhe similar objects offered ot lhe markel. See Nole 28 fur moro
details with respect to fair value of lands and buildings.
” if the land and buildings were accounted for at historical cost less impairment and accumulated depreciation for
- buildings, their carrying amount as at 31 December 2022 would be 45,080 thousand Tenge and 10,141,907 thousand
Z Tenge, respectively (as at 31 December 2021: 45,080 thousand Tenge and 9,118,504 thousand Tenge, respectively).
As at 31 December 2022 the cost of fully amortized property and equipment, including office and computer equipment,
- vehicles and other fixed assets that are in use by the Bank amounted to 25,484 thousand Tenge (on 31 December
_ 2021: 110,332 thousand Tenge).

12 Investments

As al 31 December 2022 and 2021, Investments Include Lhe follows:

: In thousands of Kazakbstani Tenge 31 December 2022 31 Decoember 2021
o Investments in subsidiaries 547,378 547,378

KASE shares 7,001 7,001
L Total equity instruments 554,379 554,379
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12 Investments {Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the Bank had the following subsidiaries, which were accounted for at cost:

31 December 2022 31 December 2021 .
Ownership Ownership

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge share, %  Book value share, %  Book value
Stressed Assets Management Organization of

Kazakhstan-Ziraat Intemational - 1 LLP 100.00 204,277 100.00 204,277
Strassed Assets Management Organization of

Kazakhslan Ziraal Inlernational = 2 LLP 100.00 343,101 100.00 343,101
Total investments in subsidiaries 547,378 547,378

On 24 January 2020, the Bank transferred assets in the amount of 204,277 thousand Tenge to a subsidiary Stressed
Assets Management Organization of Kazakhstan-Ziraat International - 1 LLP (SAMO of K2I-1 LLP) as a contribution
to the charter capital.

In 2020, the Bank established Stressed Assets Management Organization of Kazakhstan-Ziraat International-2 LLP
{(SAMO of KZI-2 LLP) based on the Agency's Decision No. 100 of 19 October 2020. On 8 December 2020, the Bank
transferred assets in the amount of 343,101 thousand Tenge to a subsidiary of SAMO of KZI-2 LLP as a contribution
to the charter capital.

13 Other Asseis

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, other assets comprise of the following:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Restricted funds in the KASE accounts 2,457 455 272,008
Other debtors on banking activities 732,552 288,753
Fees and commissions receivable 28,114 25,403
3,218,121 583,164
l ess allowance for FCL {2G8,913) (250,937
Other financial assets 2,949,208 332,227
Repossessed collateral 750,260 4,280,882
Other prepayments on non-banking activities 564,228 1,018,777
Assets not used in banking activities 379,619 379,616
Prepaid taxes other than CIT 4184 129,606
Other 303,402 147,820
Other non-financial assets 2,001,693 5,966,701

Other assets 4,950,901 6,298,928

As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, repossessed collateral represents real estate received by the Bank in the course
of settling borrowers' obligations to repay loans. Repossessed collateral is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable
value. Despite the fact that the Bank is currently actively pursuing the sale of these assets, most of them were not
realized within a short period of time. Management remains committed to realizing these assets in the foreseeabls
future.

fn 2022 and 2021, the Bank did not transfer property to subsidiaries.
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13 Other Assets (Continued)
Below is an analysis of changes in ECL allowances for other financial assets for the year ended 31 December 2022:

iIn thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge ECL

As at 31 December 2020

Charge for the year ' (252,065)
Write offs 1,128
As at 31 December 2021 {250,937}
Charga for the year (25,586)
Write offs -
Foreign exchange difference 7,610
As at 31 December 2022 (268,913)

An analysis of changes in ECL provisions by Stages of the expected credit loss model is presented in Note 20.

14 Due to Credit Institutions

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, due to credit institutions comprise of the following:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2022 31 December 2021
DAMU Entrepreneurship Development Fund JSC 5,108,357 5,102,162
Due to credit institutions 5,108,357 5,102,162

On 13 October 2020, the Bank signed a loan agreement with DAMU Entrepreneurship Development Fund JSC as part of
the Damu Regions Il Regional Priority Project Financing Program for Small and Medium-Sized Businesses. The loan
agreement was concluded for the amount of 5 billion Tenge, for a period of 7 years. The interest rate on the loan is 8.5%.
As at 31 December 2022, the Bank received 7 tranches under the loan agreement for a total amount of Tenge 5,000,000
thousand. In 2022, the Bank breached the covenant on downgrading the credit rating below 'B'. The downgrade of the
Bank’s rating is in line with a similar rating action on the Issuer Dafault Rating (IDRYin foreign currency of the Bank's parent
company, Turkiye Cumhuriyeti Ziraat Bankasi A.S. In September 2022, the Bank received a waiver letter from DAMU
Entrepreneurship Development Fund JSC, according to which the Fund walved the Bank from early return of funds in
relation to breach of this covenant.

An analysis of the liquidity of funds due to credit institutions is presented in Note 25,

15 Customer Accounts

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, customer accounts comprise:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Current accounts 59,445 584 46,028,208
Time depusils 43,821,220 44,704,263
Customer accounts 103,266,804 90,732,471
Held as security against guarantees (Note 24) 1,193,226 471,025
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15 Customer Accounts (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the Bank had ten major clients, which accounied for 40% of the gross balance of current
accounts and deposits of clients {31 December 2021: 57%). The aggregate balance of amounts due to such customers
as at 31 December 2022 was 41,762,877 thousand Tenge (31 December 2021: 51,689, 145 lhousand Tenge).

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Time deposits

Legal entities 31,134,668 34,447 176
Individuals 10,074,132 7,785,921
State and public crganizations 2,612,420 2,471,166
Current accounts

Legal entities 40,804,725 40,495,460
individuals 8,477,909 5,131,330
State and public organizations 1,162,870 401,418
Customer accounts 103,266,804 90,732,471

In accordance with the Civil Code of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the Bank is obliged to repay such deposits upon
demand of a depositor. In case a term deposit is repaid upon demand of the depositor prior to its maturity, interest is
not paid or paid at considerably at lower interest rate depending on the terms specifled In the agreement.

On 24 February 2022, lhe Government of the Republic of Kazakhislan and the Nalivnal Bark of the Republic of
Kazakhstan published a Jolnt statement on the Tenge Peposlt Protection Program, which provides for (he payment of
compensation {premium) on deposits of individuals in the amount of 10%. This decision was made against the backdrop
of increased geopoliticat risls and volatility in financial markots.

Tenge deposits that meet the terms of the program were eligible for the Tenge Deposit Protection Program. These
deposits could have been opened in one or more banks participating in the deposit insurance system as of the end of
the day on 23 February 2022. A prerequisite for the payment of compensation was the preservation of the deposit in
the bank from 23 February 2022 until 24 February 2023, that is, at least 12 months.

As of the date of this report, the Bank has received the amounts of the above compensation and credited it to the bank
accounts of its customers.

Below is the distribution of customer funds by category:

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Legal entities:

Construction 24,640,110 28,264,979
Trade and services 21,410,413 17,652,766
Manufacturing 11,577,001 16,318,785
Professional services 10,539,970 5,035,039
Transport and communications 5,256,509 4,830,648
Mining of metal ores 4,890,037 2,040,691
Other 6,401,643 3,672,312
Individuals 18,552,121 12,917,251
Customer accounts 103,266,804 90,732,471

16 Lease Liabilities

The Bank recognized the following lease liabilities:

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Short-term lease liabilities 185,972 181,810
Long-term lease liabilities 217,133 352,959
Total lease liabilities 403,105 534,769
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16 Lease Liabilities (Continued)
Interest expense included in finance costs in 2022 amounted to KZT 40,393 thousand. (2021: 41,208 thousand Tenge).

Lease agreements do not contain any covenants other than securing the performance of obligations on the leased
assets owned by the lessor. The leased assets cannot be used as collateral for loans and borrowings.

17 Other Liabilities

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, other liabllitles comprise of the following items:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Note 31 Decembear 2022 31 December 2021
Obligations for documentary seltlements 113,292 39,795

Advance interest payments on loans issued 49,203 30,358
Other accounts payable - -

Other financial liabilities 162,495 70,153
Taxes payable other than corporate income tax 73,282 57,023
Accrued expenses for unused vacations 44,202 38,466
Reserve for losses on contingent liabilities 24 125,495 20,400
Other llablliios 73,260 14,132
Other non-financial liabilities 316,229 130,021
Other Hablllties 478,734 200,174
18 Equity

Share ecapital. As at 31 December 2022, the total number of authorized, issued and fully paid ordinary shares of the
Bank is 48,500,000 shares (31 December 2021: 15,000,000 shares). The cost of placement of shares was 1,000 Tenge
per ordinary share. Shareholders are entitled fo receive dividends and distribution of capital in Tenge.

In 2022 and 2021, the Bank did not declare or pay dividends.

Nature and purpose of other reserves

Reserve funds. As at 31 Dacember 2022, the Bank had a general bank reserve for unforeseen expenses and future
losses in the amount of 1,177.,75 thousand Tenge (as at 31 December 2021: 1,177,175 thousand Tenge, respectively).
The funds from the general banking reserve could be allocated only upon the Bank's shareholders' official authorisation.
Property and equipment revaluation reserve. The revaluation reserve for property and equipment is used to record
increases in the fair value of land and buildings owned by the Bank and decreases to the extent that such decrease
relates to an increase on the same asset previously recognized in equity.

Earnings per share. Basle oarnings por share le calculated by dividing the net profil Tor lhe period attribulable to
cormnon shareliolders by e welghted average number of parllclpaling shares oulstanding during e petivd. The Banl

doss nol have any share options or converlible debt or equity istrumenls

The lullowliy reflects e lncome and share dala used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2022 2021
Net (loss)Vprofit for the year attributable to the shareholders of the Bank {10,652,467) 2,739,316
Weighted average number of common shares for basic and diluted

earnings per share computation 29,854,795 15,000,000

(Basic and diluted loss)/ basic and diluted earnings per share (in
Tenge) (356.81) 182.62

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Bank did not have any financial instruments diluting earnings per share.
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19 Interest Income and Interest Expense

Net interest income comprises the following:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2022 2021
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method

Loans to clients 8,546,770 7,124,342
Due from other banks 3,377,342 046,745
Accounts receivable under reverse repurchase agreements 66,068 333,344
Total inlerest incouine calculated using the effective interest rate 11,990,180 8,404,431
Other interest income -
Interest income 11,990,130 8,404,431
Interest expense

Customer accounts {2,058,860) (1,918,162)
Due to credit institutions (731,304) (265,456)
Lease liabiiitios (40,393) {41,208)
Tolal Inlerest expense {2,830,557) (2,224,826)
Net interest income 9,159,623 6,179,605

20 Expected Credit Losses Expenses

The table below shows the ECL expenses on financial instruments recorded in the separate statement of

comprehensive income during the year ended 31 December 2022:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Cash and cash equivalents (3,263) - - {(3,263)
Due from other banks 2,969 - - 2,969

Loans to customers measured at amortized cost (428,600) (154,308)  (20,648,438) (21,231,5635)
Other financial assets - - {(25,586) (25,586)
Financial guarantees (104,604) - - (104,604)
Total expected credit losses expense (533,597) {154,398)  (20,674,024) (21,362,019)

The table below shows the ECL expenses on financial instruments recorded in the separate statement of

comprehensive income during the year ended 31 December 2021:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Ciash and cash equivalents 858 - - 858

Due from other banks {1,495) - - (1,495)
Loans to customers measured al amorlized cost {137,851) 41,846 (1,961,855} (2,057,560)
Other financial assets (757) - (251,308} (252,085)
Financial guarantees (1,060} - - {1,060}
Total expected credit losses expense (140,105) 41,946 (2,213,163} (2,311,322)
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21 Comission Income and Comission Expense

Net fee and commission income comprises of:

In thousands of Karakhstani Tenge 2022 2021
Settlement operations 642,817 481,783
Issuance of guarantees and letters of credit 316,156 265,064
Cash transactions 215,280 177,440
Bank account services 46,732 35,941
Safe Operations 6,292 5,540
Paymanl cards 336
Othor 30,312 24,119
Fee and commission income 1,257,924 989,887
Seftlement operations (148,405) (82,224)
Guarantees (49,871)
Commission expenses for payment systems - (57,227}
Other {87,023) (27,930}
Fee and commission expense (285,299) (167,381}
Net fee and commission income 972,625 822,506

22 Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses comprise of:
in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Note 2022 2021
Salary and bonuses 954,427 759,314
Taxes other than corporate income tax 393,465 285,818
Depreciafion of fixed assets 11 258,871 257,668
Building renovation costs - 197,281
Software technical support 255,914 196,304
Piolessioal Services 103,002 110,194
Social security coniributions 99,360 74,977
Amortization of intangible assets 85,012 72,655
Security services 80,481 69,474
Commiunication and information services 52,779 47,050
Deposit insurance 80,263 42,564
Building maintenance 85,184 38,817
Membership fee 18,671 19,250
Office supplies 7,981 17,708
Travel expenses 29,090 11,375
Insurance 12,349 11,241
Encashment 8,574 8,100
fransport /856 5,492
Advartising and marketing 12,300 2,017
Medlcal products 160 I, /G
Other 127,930 31,584
Total administrative and other operating expenses 2,763,369 2,261,250
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23 Income Taxes

The corporate income tax expense (CIT) comprises:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2022 2021
Current corporate income tax expense - 843,393
Deferred corporate income tax economy — origination and reversal of

temporary differences (15,921) (14,985)
(Ecanomy)Corporate incotne lux expelses (16,021} 828,408

The Bank's income is laxed only in the Republic of Kazakhslan. In accordance witl: lax laws, the applivable corporate
income tax rate for 2022 and 2021 is 20%.

The reconciliation between the corporate income tax expense recognized in these scparate financial statements and
profit before corporate income tax expense multiplied by the statutory tax rate for 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2022 2021
{Loss)/Profit before corporate income tax expense {10,668,389) 3,567,723
Statutory tax rate 20% 20%
Theoretical (economy)/corporate income tax expense calculated at

tho statutory rato (2,133,678) 713,546
Non-deductible administrative and other operating expenses 40,230 17,495
Changes in non-deductible/non-taxable allowance for tax purposes 5,625 7,361
Unrecognized tax loss carry forwards 2,045177 -
Other permanent differences 26,725 90,007
{Economy)/corporate income tax expenses (15,921) 828,408

Deferred CIT assets and liabilities as of 31 December 2022 and their movements for the respective years comprise:

Origination Origination
and Origination and
decrease of and decregse of
temporary decrease of temporary
difference temporary  difference
31 in other 31 difference in other 31
Decetnbet comprehien- December in profil and comprehen-  December
in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2020 sive income 2021 loss sive income 2022
Tax effect of deductible temporary
differences
Tax losses carried forward - - - 2,045,177 - 2,045,177
Deferred CIT assefs - - - 2,045,177 - 2,045,177
Provision for lax losses carried
forward - - - (2,045177) - {2,040177)
Recognized deferred CIT assets - - - - - -
Tax effect of taxable temporary
differences
Praperty and equipment
and intangible assets (167,926) 13,604 (154,322) 43,608 (63,927} (174,641)
Others (13,917) 1,381 (12,536) (27,687} - (40,223)
Deferred CIT liabilities (181,843) 14,985 (166,858} 15,921 (63,927) (214,864)
Net deferred CIT asset/{liability) (181,843) 14,985 {166,858) 15,921 (63,927) {214,864)
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24 Commitments and Contingencies

Political and economic environment. The Republic of Kazakhstan continues economic reforms and development of
its legal, tax and regulatory frameworks as required by a market economy. The future stability of the Republic of
Kazakhstan economy is largely dependent upon these reforms and developments and the effectiveness of economic,
financial and monetary measures undertaken by the government of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

The volatility of crude oil prices and Tenge's exchange rate against major foreign currencies continue to have a negative
impact on the Kazakhstan economy. Interest rates of attracted financing in Tenge remain high. Combination of these
factors resulted in a limited access to capital, high cost of capital, high inflation rate and uncertainty regarding further
economic growth, which could negatively affect the Bank’s future financlal position, results of operations and business
prospects. The management of the Bank believes that it is taking appropriate measures to support the sustalnabllity of
the Bank's business in the current circumstances.

Legal actions and claims. In the ordinary course of business, the Bank is subject to legal actions and complaints. The
Bank belisves that the ultimate liability, if any, arising from such actions or complaints will not have a material adverse
effect on the financial position or results of operations of the Bank.

The Bank assesses the likelihood of material liabilities arising from individual circumstances and makes provision in its
separate financial statements only where it is probable that events giving rise to the liability will occur and the amount
of the liability can be reasonably estimated. No provision has been made in these separate financial statements for any
of the above described contingent liabilities.

Tax contingencies. Various types of lagislatlon and ragulations ara not always clearly written and their Inlerpretation
Is subject to the opinfons of the local tax Inspectors and the Minisiry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan.
instances of Inconslistent aplnlons between local, reglonal and natlonal tax authorifles are not unusual. The current
regime of penalties and interest related to reported and discovered violations of Kazakhstani laws, decrees and
related regulations is severe. Penalties include confiscation of the amounts at issue (for ourrenay law violations), as
well as fines of generally 50% of the taxes unpaid.

The Bank believes that it has paid or accrued all taxes that are applicable. Where practice concerning tax application
is unclear, the Bank has accrued tax provisions based on management's best estimate. The Bank's policy is to
recognize provisions in the accounting period in which a loss is deemed probable and the amount is reasonably
determinable.

Because of the uncertainties associated with the Kazakhstan tax system, the ultimate amount of taxes, penalties and
fines, if any, may be in excess of the amount expensed to date and accrued on 31 December 2022. Although such
amounts are possible and may be material, it is the opinion of the Bank’'s management that these amounts are either
not probable, not reascnably determinable, or both.,

Commitments and contingencies. At 31 December the Bank’s commitments and contingencies comprised the
following:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Note 2022 2021
Credit related commitments
Guarantees 32,921,544 13,352,831
Undrawn loan facilities 20,446,145 16,667,687
Letters of credit 267,638 89,062
lTotal credit related commitiments 53,635,327 30,109,580
ECL allowance on credit related commitments 17 (125,495} (20,400}
Amounts due to customers held as security against

guarantees 14 (1,193,226) (471,025)

Total credit related commitments, net of allowance and
net of cash collateral - 52,316,606 29,618,155
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Credit related commitments. Loan commitments are contractual commitments under which, during the life of the
commitment, the Bank is required to provide a customer with a loan on pre-agreed ferms. Guarantees and standby letters
ol credil, which represent Irrevocable assurances hal lhe Bank will make payments in the event lhal a custormer cannot
meet its obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans and borrowings. Documentary and trade letters of
credit, which are written undertakings by the Bank to make payments on behalf of customers up to a specified amount,
subject to certain conditions, are backed by related deliveries of goods or cash deposits and are therefore less risky than
direct borrowing. Commitments to provide loans provide for the Bank's right to unilaterally withdraw from the agreement
in the event of any unfavorable conditions Therefore, no FCL allowance was recognized for [oan commitments for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Commitments to extend credit include the unused portion of amounts approved by management to extend credit in the
form of loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to commitments to extend credit, the probability of losses is
less than the total amount of unused commitments, as commitments to extend loans depend on customer compliance
with certain credit requirements.

The Bank controls the time remaining to maturity of credit related commitments, as longer-term commitments generally
carry a higher level of credit risk than short-term commitments. The Bank annually reviews the provided credit limits in
order to review the period of availability for obtaining credit funds/obligations. In the event of a deterioration in
creditworthiness, the availability period is not updated.

I he table below provides an analysis of the credit quality of credit related commitments based on credit risk levels as
at 31 December 2022 and 31 Necember 2021

Stage 1

{12-months ECL)
in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Guarantees and letters of credit
- Superior level 12,159,428 5,645,156
- Good level 10,540,633 2,327,017
- Satisfactory level 995,065 192,185
- Requires special monitoring 9,494,056 5,277,565
Unrecognized gross value 33,189,182 13,441,893
Pravision for guarantess and letters of credit {125,485) (20,400)
Loan commitments
- Superior level 7,917,835 4,233,349
- Good levet 10,893,943 10,445,365
- Satisfactory level 1,207,179 1,957,758
- Requires special monitoring 427,188 31,215
Unrecognized gross value 20,446,145 16,667,687

Provision for loan commitments - -

Refer to Note 25 for the description of credit risk grading system used by the Bank and the approach to ECL
measurement, including the definition of default and SICR as applicable to credit related commitments.

The total outstanding contractual amount of undrawn credit lines, letters of credit, and guarantees does not necessarily
represent future cash requirements, as these financial instruments may expire or terminate without being funded.
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Below is an analysis of changes in allowance for ECL for the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021:

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Total

Allowance for ECL as at 1 January 2020 (19,253} {19,253)
Change in ECL (1,060) {1,080)
Foreign exchange differences (87} {87)
Allowance for ECL as at 31 December 2021 (20,400) (20,400)
Change In ECL {104,604) {104,604)
Foreign exchange differences (481) (491)
Allowance for ECL as at 31 December 2022 {125,495) {125,495}

25 Risk Management

Introduction. Risk is inherent in the Bank's activities. The Bank manages these risks through a process of ongoing
identification, measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. This process of risk management
is critical to tho Bank's continuing profitability and each individual within tho Bank is accountablo for tho riek exposuros
relating to his or her responsibilities. The Bank is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, which in turn is
subdivided into risk associated with trading operations and risk associated with non-trading activities. It is also subject
to operating risks.

The independent risk control process does not include business risks such as changes in the environment, technology
and industry. They are monitored through the Bank's strategic planning process.

Risk management process comprises identification, measuring, control and limitation of risks that are carried cut by the
Bank on a regular basis.

Risk management structure. The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for identifying and controlling risks;
however, there are separate independent bodies responsible for managing and monitoring risks.

Board of Directors. The Board of Directors Is responsible for the overall risk management approach and for approving
the risk stralegies and principles.

Management Board. The Management Board has the respensibility o monitor the overall risk process within the
Bank

Risk Management Commiifee of the Board of Directors. The Risk Management Committee of the Board of Directors
assists the Board of Directors of the Bank by developing recommendations on risk management and intemmal control
issues in order to ensure their reliability and efficiency.

Risk management. The Risk Management Unit is responsible for implementing and maintaining risk related procedures
o ensure an independent control process.

The main purpose of lhe unil is generaling and functioning of the Bank's effective risk inanageimetil syslein providing
application of methods of risk detection and control, ensuring effective determination, evaluation and limitation of the
Bank’s rieke coneidering the type and ecope of transactione conducted by the Bank. This unit also ensures the complete
capture of the risks in risk measurement and reporting systems.

Bank Treasury. Bank Treasury is responsible for managing the Bank’s assets and liabilities and the overall financial
structure. |t is also primarily responsible for the funding and liquidity risks of the Bank.

Internal audit. Risk management processes throughout the Bank are audited annually by the internal audit that
examines both the adequacy of the procedures and the Bank’s compliance with the procedures. Internal Audit function
discusses the results of all assessments with management, and reports its findings and recommendations to the Audit
Committee
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Risk measurement and reporting systems. The Bank's risks are measured using a method which reflects both the
expected loss likely to arise in normatl circumstances and unexpected losses, which are an estimate of the ultimate
agtual luss based on slalislical models. The models make use of probabilies derived from hislorical experience,
adjusted to reflect the economic environment. The Bank also runs worst case scenarios that would arise in the event
that extreme events which are unlikely to occur do, in fact, ocour.

Menitoring and controlling risks is primarily performed based on limits established by the Bank. These limits reflect the
business strategy and market environment of the Bank as well as the level of risk that the Bank is willing to accept, with
additional emphasis on selected industries.

[n addition, the Bank monitors and moasures the ovorall rigk boaring capacity in relation to the aggregate risk exposure
across all risks types and actlvitles.

Information compiled from ali the businesses is examined and processed in order to analyse, control and identify early
risks. This information is presented and explained to the Board of Directors, Management Board, Asset and Liability
Management Committee, Credit Committee, and the head of each business unit. The report includes aggregate credit
exposure, forecast credit indicators, hold limit exceptions, liquidity ratios, interest rate risk ratios and risk profile
changes.

For all levels throughout the Bank, specifically tailored risk reports are prepared and distributed in order to ensure that
all business divisions have access to extensive, necessary and up-to-date information,

A regular meeting is held with the Management Board and all other relevant depariments of the Bank on the utilisation
of market limits, proprictary investments and liquidity, plus any other risk developments.

Iisk mitigation. 1he Bank actively uses collateral to reduce its credit risks (see below for more detail).

Excessive risk concentration. Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business
activities, or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability
to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions.
Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Bank’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry
or geographical location.

In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risks, the Bank’s policies and procedures include specific guidelines to
focus on maintaining a diversified portfolio. [dentified concentrations of risks are controlled and managed accordingly.

Credit rigk. The Bank ia exposed to credit rigk, which is the risk that one party to a transaction in a financial instrument
will cause a financial loss to the other party by defaulting on an obligation under a contract.

Credit risk arises from the Bank's lending and other transactions with counterparties, which give rise to financiat assets
and credlt related commitments.

The Bank's maximum exposure to credit risk is reflected in the carrying amount of financial assets in the consolidated
statement of financial position. For issued financial guarantees, commitments to extend credit, undrawn credit lines and
export/import letters of credit, the maximum credit risk is the amount of the commitment.

Credit risk management. Credit risk is the single most significant risk to the Bank's business. Conseguently,
management pays special attention to credit risk management

Assessing credit risk for risk management purposes is complex and requires the use of models as risk changes with
market conditions, expected cash flows and over time. Assessing the credit risk of a porifolio of assets requires
addltional assessments of the probability of a default ocourring, the associated loss ratios, and the correlation of defaults
across counterparties

Limits. The Bank centrols credit risk by setting limits on a single borrower or a group of related borrowers, as well as
by setting limits by geographic and industry segments. Credit risk limits by product and industry are regularly approved
by management. Such risks are monitored regularly, and the limits are reviewed at least once a year.

Credit risk classification system. In order to assess credit risk and classify financial instruments by credit risk level, the
Bank uses two approaches: an internal risk-based rating system or assessment of risk levels by external international
rating agencies {Standard & Poor's (S&F), Fitch, Moody's).
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.25 Risk Management (Continued)
Company Score System (FDS) - a system used to determine the creditworthiness of borrowers.

The following table summarizes the credit ratings used in the FDS:

Credit rating | Explanation of Credit Rating

Along with being an extremely positive company, starting from financial and non-financial criteria,

AAA It can continue to have a long-term high creditworthiness.
' AA } Aldng with beihg a poslflve company, starting from financlal and non-financial criteria, may
continue long-term creditworthiness
A A company with high creditworthiness, owning high short-term creditworthiness and providing
optimization starting from financial and non-financial criteria
BBB A company expected to have a long-term creditworthiness, which has ensured the optimization of

the creditworthiness of an important part of the financial and non-financial criteria

A company that needs to be assessed, within the criteria of the Medium-long-term Risk Analysis,
BB that has a short-term creditworthiness, along with a failure to optimize creditworthiness in one part
of the financial and / or non-financial criteria

A company whose credit profile is subject to maturity review may need to be assessed under the
B . Risk Analysis crileria, while lailing lo achieve credil optimization in an important part of the financial
and/or non-financial criteria. Must be valued with guaranteo.

An important part of financial and/or non-financial criteria is negative. A company that has short-
cce term creditworthiness and requires a guarantee market valuation, along with the fact that there
may be difficulties in fulfilling obligations.

In terms of financial and/or non-financial criteria can bo agroed, romains below the riek boundarios.

CcC Lending is provided only by committees of the structure of the Board of Directors or by the Credit
Committee-1 of the General Directorate.

c In terms of financial and/or non-financial criteria can be agreed, remains below the risk boundaries.
Lending is provided only by committees of the structure of the Board of Directors

D In terms of financial and/or non-financial criteria can be agreed, remains below the risk boundaries.

Lending is provided only by committees of the structure of the Board of Directors

(*) Cash loans or cash equivalents cannot be considered under this table.
(**) Companies ranked in the same group receive a parent company credit rating.

The rating models are regularly reviewed by the Credit Risk Department, back-tested based on actual default data, and
updated as necessary Regardless of the method used, the Banl regularly confirms the accuracy of the ratings, calculates
and evaluates the predictive abilities of models.

External ratings are assigned to counterparties by independent international rating agencies such as S&P, Moody's and
Fitch. These rankings are publicly available. Such ratings and corresponding ranges of default probabilities apply to
interbank deposits and correspondent accounts.

Credit risk is the risk that the Bank will incur a loss because its customers, clients or counterparties failed to discharge
their contractual obligations. The Bank manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is
willing to accept for individual counterparties and for geographical and industry concentrations, and by monitoring
exposures in relation to such limits.

The Bank has established a credit quality review process to provide early identification of possible changes in the
credilworthiness of counlerparlles, Including regular collateral revislons.

The credit quality review process allows the Bank to assess the potential loss as a result of the risks to which it is
exposed and undertake corrective action.

Credit-related commitments risks. The Bank makes available to its customers guarantees which may require that the
Bank make payments on their behalf. Such payments are collected from customers based on the terms of the letter of
credit. They expose the Bank to risks similar to loans and these are mitigated by the same control processes and
policies.

The carrying amount of components of the separate statement of financial position without the influence of risk
mitigation through the use of master netting agreements and collateral agreements, most accurately reflects the
maximum credit exposure on these components.
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Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value, their carrying amounts represent the current credit risk exposure
but not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the fulure as a result of changes in values.

For more detail on the maximum exposure to credit risk for each class of financial instrument, references shall be made
to the specific notes. The effect of collateral and other risk mitigation techniques is shown in Note 8 and Note 23.

Treasury and interbank relationships. The Bank’s treasury and interbank relationships and counterparties comprise
financial services institutions, banks, broker dealers, exchanges and clearinghouses. To assess such relationships the
Bank analyses publicly available information, such as separate financial statements, and data from other external
sources, such as external ralings

Commercial and small business lending. In case of commerclal lending, the department of credit risks performs an
assessment of borrowers. The credit risk assessment is based on a calculation model that takes into account various
historical, current and forward looking information such as:

» historical financial information together with forecasts and budgets prepared by the client. This financial information
includes realized and expected results, sclvency ratios, liquidity ratios and any other relevant ratics to measure
the client's financial performance;

s any publicly available information on the clients from external parties. This includes external rating grades issued
by ratlng agencles, independent analyst reports, publicly traded bond prices or press releases and artlcles;

e any macro-economic or geopolitical information, e.q., GDP growth relevant for the specific indusiry and
geographical segments where the client operates;

« any other objectively supportable information on the quality and abilities of the client's management relevant for
the company's performance.

The complexity and granularity of the rating techniques varies based on the exposure of the Bank and the complexity
and size of the customer. Some less difficult loans to small businesses are rated by the Bank using models for retail
products.

Consumer lending and mortgage fending. Consumer lending includes secured and unsecured loans to individuals. The
evaluation of these products together with mortgage loans is carried out using various criteria, the main indicater for
which is the number of days overdue. Other basic initial data used in the models are the following: the facts of write-
offs on payment requirements-orders from other banks and govemment agencies, a decrease in the market value of
collateral based on the resulis of revaluation, the presence of default on other financial assets of the same borrower,
as well as the ratio of the loan amount to the cost of collateral.

The amount af risk of default. The amount at risk of default (EAD) is the gross carrying amount of financial instruments
subject to impairment assessment and reflects both the client's ability to increase its debt when approaching default
and the possibility of early repayment. To calculate the EAD for Stage 1 loans, the Bank estimates the probability of
default within 12 months to estimate the 12-month ECL. For Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI financial assets, the EAD
indicator is considered for events that may occur throughout the life of the instrument.

The level of losses in defauli. In case of commercial lending, LGD values are assessed at least quarterly and reviewed
and approved by the Bank’s Budgeting, Performance Analysis and Risk Management Department.

The credit risk assessment is based on a standardized LGD assessment framework that results in a certain LGD rate.
These L GD rates conslder the sxpected EAD In comparisen to the amount expected to be recovered or realized from
any collaletal held.

The Bank segments lis retail lending producls inlo smaller homogeneous portlollos, based on key characleristics that
are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows. The applied data is based on historically collected loss data and
involves a wider set of transaction characteristics, as well as borrower characteristics.

Significant increase in credit risk. The Bank continuously monitors all assets subject to ECLs. In order to determine
whether an instrument or a portfolio of instruments is subject to 12mECL or LTECL, the Bank assesses whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The Bank considers an exposure to have
significantly increased in credit risk if contractual payments are more than 30 days past due since initial recognition.

The Bank also applies a secondary qualitative method for friggering a significant increase in credit risk for an asset, for
example, transfer of a client/loan to the watch list or restructuring due to credit event.
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When estimating ECLs on a collective basis for a group of similar assets, the Bank applies the same principles for

assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

Grouping financial assets measured on a collective basis. Dependent on the factors below, the Bank calculates ECLs

either on a collective or on an individuatl basis.
Asset classes where the Bank calculates ECL on an individual basis include:

+ all Stage 3 assets, regardless of the class of financial assets;

« financial assets with gross amount exceeding 0 2% of total equity
Asset classes where the Bank calculates ECL on a collective basis include:

e stage 1 and 2 retail mortgages and consumer lending and Stage 1 and 2 commercial lending porifolio;
« financial assets with gross amount exceeding 0.2% of total equity.

Forward-looking information and multiple economic scenarios. In it's ECLs calculation models the Bank uses as
economic inputs:

«  GDP growth;

« growlh in nominal cash Incuine;
+ unemployment rate;

+ inflation;

« nominal prices in the housing market.

The inputs and models used for calculating ECLs may not always capture all characteristics of the market at the date
of the separate financial statements. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments or overlays are occasionally made as

temporary adjustments when such differences are significantly material.
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The Bank obtains the forward-looking information from third party sources (external rating agencies, governmental
bodies e.g. central banks, and international financial institutions). Experts of the Credit Risk Department determine the
weights attributable to the multiple scenarios. The tables show the values of the key forward looking economic
— variables/assumptions used in each of the economic scenarios for the ECL calculations. The figures for “Subsequent
years” represent a long-term average and so are the same for each scenario as at 31 December 2022.

Assigned Subsequent
8! Key drivers ECL scenario  probabilities, % 2022 2023 2024 years
if
ot QDP growth, %
Upesido 10% 6.00% 6.08% 6.15% 6.10%
a [iase case 0% 4.00% 4.05% 4.10% 4.0T%
! Downside 20% 2.00% 2.03% 2.05% 2.00%
Growth in nominal
T cash income, %
3 Upside 10% 12.96% 9.72% 7.56% 6.60%
- Base case 70% 14.15% 10.88% 8.25% 6.30%
Downside 20% 10.56% 7.92% 6.16% 6.55%
% Unemployment
e rate, %
Upsido 10% 4.80% 4.80% 4.80% 4 80%
5 Base case 70% 4.90% 4.90% 4.90% 4.90%
: Downside 20% 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% 6.00%
Inflation, %
Upside 10% 10.80% 8.10% 6.30% 6.00%
Base case 70% 12.00% 9.00% 7.00% 7.00%
Downside 20% 13.20% 9.90% 7.70% 9.35%
- Nominal prices in the
_ housing market,
""" Tenge
thousand/sq.m.
Upside 10% 561.24 606.70 644.92 891.35
Base case 70% 536.93 561.09 580.73 621.38
Bownside 20% 539.97 566.70 588.51 624.75

Below is the geographical concentration of the Bank's financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2022:

OECD Non-OECD

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Kazakhstan countries countries Total
o Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 68,046,330 4,991,929 569,887 73,608,146
] Due from other banks - - 1,209,370 1,209,370
L investments 554,379 - - 554,379
- Loans to customers 70,123,337 5,378,275 - 75,501,612
- Ciher lInanclal assets 2,949,208 - - 2,944,208
G Total moneraty assets 141,673,254 10,370,204 1,779,257 153,822,715
Liabilities
» Due to credit institutions 5,108,357 - - 5,108,357
Customer accounts 99,356,240 3,672,378 238,186 103,266,804
Lease liabilities 403,105 - - 403,105
Other financial liabilities 162,495 - - 162,495
) Total monetary liabilities 105,030,197 3,672,378 238,186 108,940,761
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Below is the geographical concentration of the Bank's financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2021:

OECD Non-OECD

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Kazakhstan countries countries Total
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 31,243,716 6,044,355 457,352 37,745,423
Due from other banks - - 1,076,701 1,076,701
Investments 554,379 - - 554,379
Loons to customers 61,619,423 12,061,332 2,218,072 75,708,827
Other financial assets 332,227 - - 332,227
Total moneraty assets 93,649,745 18,105,687 3,752,125 115,507,557
Liabilities '

Due to credit institutions 5,102,162 - - 5,102,162
Customer accounts 87,871,278 2,766,502 94,621 90,732,471
Lease liabilities 534,769 - - 534,769
Other financial liabilities 70,153 - - 70,153
lotal monetary liabilities 93,578,362 2,766,602 04,681 96,430,666

Liquidity risk and funding management. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank wlll be unable to meet its payment
obligations when they fall due under nomal and stress circumstances. To limit this risk, the management has arranged
diversifled funding sources I addilion lo its core depusil base. Also, il manayes assels with liguidity it mind, and
monitors future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. This incorporates an assessment of expected cash flows and
the availability of high grade collateral which could be used to secure additional funding if required.

The Banks monitors a number of internal liquidity indicators in a daily basis. The Bank's Treasury Depariment manages
short-term liquidity on an on-going basis using cash positicn and portfolio of highly marketable securities.

The Bank is obliged to comply with liquidity requirements established by the regulators including requirements of the
NBRK represented by obligatory norms. The Bank maintains a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that
can be easily liquidated in the event of an unforeseen interruption of cash flow. The Bank has also entered into credit
line agreements which it can draw upon to meet its cash needs.

Analysis of financial liabilities by terms remaining to maturity. The table below shows the Bank’s financial liabilities as
at 31 December, by maturity, based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. Obligations thal are
redeemable on demand are treated as if the demand for redemption had been made on the earliest possible date.
However, the Bank expects that many customers will not request repayment at the earliest date on which the Bank
would be required to make the respective payment and, accordingly, the table does not reflect the expected cash flows
calculated by the Bank based on historical demand information.

On Lessthan 3 months 1to Over

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge demand 3 months to 1 year 5 years 5 years Total
As at 31 December 2022
Financlal liabilities
Due to credit institutions - 42,500 1,381,292 5,108,315 - 6,532,107
Customer accounts 57,061,978 2478,602 42,724,033 2,072,646 41,740 104,360,007
Lease liabilities - 45,287 130,102 236,143 85,476 487 008
Other financial liabilities 49,203 28,757 14,835 69,694 6 162,485
Total undiscounted financial

liabilities 57,101,181 2,595,236 44,251,162 7,486,797 97,231 111,531,607
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On Lessthan 3 months 1to Over

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge demand 3 months to 1 year 5 years 5 years Total
As at 31 December 2021

Financial liabilities

Due to credit institutions - 42,500 372,417 3,818,554 2,713,554 6,947,025
Customer accounts 45,556,220 3,963,934 40,651,211 2,746,230 204,604 93,122,199
Lease liabilities - 45,287 136,074 387,254 79,753 548,368
Other financial liabilities 40,803 3,362 8,586 14,978 2,424 70,153
Total undiscounted financial 45,507,023 4,055,083 41,168,288 6,967,016 3,000,335 100,787,745

liabilities

Although the analysls of liabllittes by maturity shows a significant portion of customer funds in the "demand and less lhan
1 month” category, the repayment of these funds has historically occurred over a longer period than indicated in this
table. These deposits form a reliable and long-term source of financing. During 2022, there were no significant outflows
of customer funds and the Bank's management does not expect such outflows in the near future.

The Bank does not use the above undiscounted maturity analysis of liabilities for liquidity management. instead, the Bank
controls expected maturities and expected liquidity gap, which are presented in the table below:

The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments by expected maturity as at 31 December 2022:

On demand
and less From
than From 1 to From 6 to 12 months Over 5

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 1 month 6 months 12 months to 5 years years Total
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 45,743,211 27,864,935 - - - 73,608,146
Bue from other banks 1,208,370 - - - - 1,209,370
Loans to customers 1,508,289 17,610,094 19,014,172 32,328,801 5,040,256 75,501,612
Investments - - - - 554,379 554,379
Other financial assets - - 2,949,208 - - 2,949,208
Total 48,460,870 45,475,029 21,963,380 32,328,801 5,594,635 153,822,715
Liabilities
Customer accounts 28,937,167 33,886,389 22,063,394 18,340,949 38,905 103,266,804
Due fo credit institutions - 108,357 1,000,000 4,000,000 - 5,108,357
Lease liabilities 14,797 92,9905 78,180 188,968 28,165 403,105
Other financial liabilities 8,934 13,773 87,411 51,371 6 162,495
Total potential future payments

for financial obligations 28,961,898 34,101,514 23,228,985 22,581,288 67,076 108,240,761
Liquidity aap arising from

financiai instruments 19,498,972 11,373,515 (1,265,605) 9,747,513 5,527,559 44,881,954

Liquidity requirements for payments under guarantees and letters of credit are significantly lowor than tho amount of tho
corresponding commitments presented in he matuwrily analysis abuve, as the Bank does not normally expect these
commitments to be called upon by third parties. The total amount of contractual loan commitments included in the table
above does not necessarily represent the amount of cash that will be required in the future, as many of these
commitments may not be called or terminated before they expire.
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25 Risk Management (Continued)

The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments by maturity as at 31 December 2021:

. On demand
: and less From
than From 1 to From 6 to 12 months Over 5
""" In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 1 month 6 months 12 months to 5 years years Total
- Assets
> Cash and cash equivalents 22,712,836 15,032,587 - - - 37,745,423
aucd Dus from cther banlks 1,076,701 1,076,701
Loans to customers 4,690,563 5,002,150 11,878,298 37,812,266 46,415,550 75,798,827
Fw!g Investments - - - - 554379 554,379
= Other financial assets - - 332,22/ - - 332,227
Total 21,403,399 20,034,734 12,210,525 38,888,967 16,060,920 115,507,557
: ; Liabilities
. Customer accounts 46,703,306 23,958,471 19,791,933 88,712 190,049 90,732,471
Due to credit institutions - - - 5,102,162 - 5,102,162
- | ease liabilities 14,875 82,796 84,139 312,284 40,675 534,769
': Other financial liabilities 40,803 3,362 8,586 14,978 2,424 70,153
Total potentlal future payments
- for financial obligations 46,758,984 24,044,629 19,884,658 5,518,136 233,148 968,439,555
3 Liquidity gap arising from
financial instruments (10,356,5886) {4,000,802) (7,674,133) 33,370,831 16,736,781 19,068,002

The analysis of maturity differences does not reflect the historical stability of curmrent account funds, which have
traditionally been repaid over a longer period than indicated in the tables above. These balances are included in the
tables in amounts payable on demand.

The table below shows the contractual terms of the Bank's contingent and contractual credit related commitments. In
this table, the Bank has disclosed the contractual duration of contingent and contractual credit related commitments
based on lhe date of completion of such conlracls.

Less than 3 months 1to Over
In thewsands of Kaeakhatani Tenge 3 menths to 1 year 3 years 9 years Total
i 2022 4,529,895 9,594,920 39,418,710 91,802 53,635,327
2021 307,007 6,087,219 16,531,602 7,183,752 30,109,580

If the term of contingent and contractual obligations is presented at the earliest date on which the client can demand
performance of the obligation, all of the above obligations will be presented in the “less than 3 months” category.

The Bank expects that not all contractual commitments of a credit nature will need to be settled before thelr expiry date.

Market risk Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to
changes in market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. With the exception of
currency posilions, the Banlc does nol have signilicant concentiallons of mmarkel risk,

Change in interest rate risk Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future
cash flows or the fair value of financial instruments. The Bank has no fleating rate non-trading financial assets and
financial liabilities as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Currency risk. Currency risk - the risk of losses associated with changes in foreign exchange rates in the course of the
Bank's activities. The risk of loss arises from the revaluation of the Bank's positicns in currencies in value terms. The
Bank's management sets limits on the level of risk taken by currency and monitors their compliance on a daily basis.
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25 Risk Management (Continued)

The following table sets out the currencies in which the Bank has significant positions as at 31 December in monetary
assets and liabilities and projected cash flows. The analysis performed consists in calculating the impact of a possible
change in exchange rates agalnst the Tenge on a separate statement of comprehenslive income (due lo lhe presence
of certain monetary assets and liabilities, the fair value of which is sensitive to changes in the exchange rate). All other
parameters are assumed 1o be constant. Negative amounts in the table reflect a potential net decrease in the separate
statement of comprehensive income, while positive amounts reflect a potential net increase:

= 2022 2021
Change in Change in
- currency rate, Cffect on profit currency rate, Effeot on profit
In theusands of Kazakhstani Tenge in % hofare tax in % before tax
: Currency
. Russian rouble 5.74% 5,236 1.34% {269)
i -5.57% (5,077) -1.31% 264
Tenge 2.26% 419 0.72% (213)
-2.24% (416) -0.76% 227
. US dollars 2.14% 69,333 0.50% 3,019
. -2.07% (67,136) -0.48% {2,889)

[he curtancy posilion during he year had approximately equal values due o he facl hat e Bank sel limlts on open
currency positions and the position was within the established limit.

The currency position of the Bank as at 31 Docombor 2022 is as followe:

Russian Other

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Tenge US Dollar Rouble Euro Currencies Total
- Assets
3 Cash and cash equivalents 29,176,677 36,916,140 666,112 6,839,830 9,387 73,608,146

Due from other banks - 1,208,370 - - - 1,209,370

L.oans to customers 50,000,790 25,396,343 - 104,479 - 75,501,612

Investments 554,379 - - - - 554,379
2 Other financial assels 670,767 2,277,274 12 1,150 5 2,949,208
— Total flnanclal assets 80,402,613 65,799,127 666,124 6,945,459 9,392 153,822,715
- Liabilities

Due to credit institutions 5,108,357 - - - - 5,108,357

Customer accounts 33,208,266 62,464,105 574,179 6,925,708 3,846 103,266,804
L Lease liabililies 403,105 - - - - 403,105
e Other financial liabilities 70,722 89,812 778 1,183 - 162,495
) Total financial liabiiities 38,881,150 62,553,917 574,957 6,926,891 3,846 108,940,761

Net balance sheet position 41,621,463 3,248,210 01,167 18,568 5546 44,881,954
. 58



R

Associated Bank Kazakhstan ~ Ziraat International Bank JSC
Nofes to the Separate Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

25 Risk Management {Continued)

The currency position of the Bank as at 31 December 2021 is as follows:

Russian Other

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Tenge US Dollar Rouble Euro  Currency Total
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 23,793,602 12,586,223 30,93¢ 1,324,573 10,086 37,745,423
[nie from other banks - 1,076,701 - - - 1,076,701
Investmenis 554,379 - - - - 554,379
Loans to customers 9,718,668 34,780,350 - 1,299,809 - 75,798,827
Other flnanclal assets 78,448 252,618 10 1,144 7 332,227
Total financial assets 64,145,097 48,695,802 30,949 2,625,526 10,093 115,507,557
Liabllities

Due to credit institutions 5,102,162 - - - - 5102162
Customer accounts 39,936,725 48,083,247 51,105 2,655,066 6,328 90,732,471
| ease liabilities 534,769 - - - - 534,769
COther financial liabilities 58,713 10,201 - 239 - 70,153
Total financial liabilities 45,633,369 48,093,448 51,105 2,655,305 6,328 96,439,555
Net balance sheet position 18,511,728 602,444 {20,156) (29,779} 3,765 19,068,002

Operatienal risk. Operalional risk is the risk arising rorn syslem failure, human error, fraud or external events. When
controls fail, operational risks can damage reputation, have legal consequences, or result in financial loss. The Bank
cannot assume that all operational risks have been eliminated, but with the help of a control system and by monitoring
and appropriately responding to potential risks, the Bank can manage such risks. The control system provides for an
effective segregation of duties, access rights, approval and reconciliation procedures, staff training, and evaluation
procedures, including internal audit.

26 Fair Value Measurement

Falr value measurement procedures. Board of the Bank determines the pdlicies and procedures for recurring
measurement of the fair value of real estate owned by the Bank.

External appraisers are engaged to evaluate buildings and land of the Bank. Selection criteria include market
knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional standards are maintained.

At each reporting date, management of the Bank analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilittes which
are required to be re-measured or re-assessed as per the Bank’s accounting policies. For this analysis, management
of the Bank verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation
computation to contracts and other relevant documents. Management of the Bank, in conjunction with the external
appraisers also compares each change in the fair value of each asset and liability with relevant external sources to
determine whether the change is reasonable.

Az at 31 December 2022, an independent valuation of office huildings and land includod in proparly, plant and
equipment was carried out Tha appraisal was carriod out by an independent firm of professional appraisers, IP
"Praperty Appraisal Department”, who have professional qualitications and professional experience in appraising
property similar to the property belng appralsed In terms of location and calegory.

Fair value hierarchy. The Bank uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial
instruments by valuation technique:
¢ Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

e Level 2; other models for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observabie,
either directly or indirectly.

¢ Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based
on observable market data.
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26 Fair Value Measurement (Continued)

For the purpose of disclosing the fair values, the Bank determined classes of assets and liabilities based on the assets

and liabilities nature, characteristics and risks as well as the hierarchy of fair value sources.

Date of Fair Value Measurement with the use of

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge measurement Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
2022
Assets measured at fair value
Property and equipment — land and

buildings 31 Derember 2022 - - 11,619,658 11,619,659
Investments 31 December 2022 - 7,001 - 7,001
Assets for which fair values are

disclosed
Cash and cash equivalents 31 December 2022 1973972 71,634,174 - 73,608,146
Due from other banks 31 December 2022 - 1,208,345 - },208,345
Loans to customers 31 December 2022 - - 71,601,021 71,601,021
Investments in subsidiaries 31 December 2022 - - 547,378 547,378
Other financial assets 31 December 2022 - - 2,949,208 2,949,208
Liabilities for which fair values are

disclosed
Duo to cradit institutions 31 Decembar 2022 - 4,115,300 - 4,115,300
Customer accounts 31 December 2022 - 103,084,203 - 103,084,203
Lease liabilities 31 December 2022 - 403,108 - 403,108
Other financial liabilities 31 December 2022 - - 162,495 162,495

Date of Fair value measurement with the use of

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge measurement Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
2021
Assets measured at fair value
Property and eguipment — land and

buildings 31 December 2021 - - 10,285,541 10,285,541
Investments 31 December 2021 - 7,001 - 7.001
Assets for which fair values are

disclosed
Cash and cash equivalents 31 December 2021 1,714,163 36,031,260 - 37,145,423
bue from other banks 31 December 20211 - 1,079,487 - 1,079,487
Loans to customers 31 December 2021 - - 76,117,986 76,117,886
Investments in subsidiaries 31 December 2021 - - 547,378 547,378
Other financial assets 31 December 2021 - 332,227 - 332,227
Liabilities for which fair values are

disclosed -
Due to credit institutions 31 December 2021 - 5,396,252 - 5,396,252
Customer accounts 31 December 2021 - 91,570,842 - 91,570,842
Lease liabilities 31 December 2021 - 534,769 534,769
Other financial liabilitios 31 December 2021 - 70,153 - 70,153
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26 Fair Value Measurement (Continued)

Below is a comparison of the carrying amount and fair value by class of the Bank's financial instruments that are not
measured at fair value in the statement of financial position. The table does not include fair values for non-financial
assets and non-financial liabilities.

2022 2021
Unrecogni- Unrecogni-
Carrying zed Carrying zed
in thousands of Kazakhsfani Tenge amount Fair value _ gain/(loss} amount Falr value  galn/(loss)
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 73,608,146 73,608,146 - 37,745,423 37,745,423 -
Investments in subsidiaries 547,378 547,378 - 547,378 H4/1,378 -
Due from other banks 1,209,370 1,209,345 (25) 1,076,701 1,079,487 2,186
Loans {o customers 75,501,612 71,601,021 (3,900,591) 75,798,827 76,117,986 319,159
Olher nanclad assels 2,949,208 2,949,208 - 332,227 332,227
Financial liabilities
Due to credit institutions 5,108,357 4,115,300 993,057 5,102,162 5,396,252 (294,090)
Customer accounis 103,266,804 103,084,203 182,601 90,732,471 91,570,842 (838,371)
Lease liabilities 403,105 403,105 - 534,769 534,769 -
Other financial liabilities 162,495 162,495 - 70,153 70,153 -
Total unrecognized change in
unrealized fair value {2,724,958) {810,516)

Methods of measurement and assumptions. The following describes the methodologies and assumptions used to
determine the fair value of assels and liabilities carried at fair value in the financial statements, as well as items that
are not measured at fair value in the statement of financial position, but whose fair value is disclosed:

Property and equipment — land and buildings. Fair value of the properties was determined by using market comparable
method. This means that valuations performed by the valuer are based on market transaction prices, significantly
adjusted for difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific property.

Assets for which fair value approximates to carrying vaiue. For financial assets and financial liabilities that are liquid or
having a shori-term maturity (less than three months) it is assumed that the carrying amounts approximate to their fair
value. This assumption is also applied to demand deposits and savings accounts without a specific maturity.

Louns at fair value teough profit or foss. Loans al fair value through profit or loss are valued using a combination of
approaches. Where appropriate, loans are valued with reference to observable prices of debt securities issued by the
borrower or by comparable entities. In other cases, valuation is performed using intemal models based on present
value technigues or, in some circumstances (for example, in respect of cash flow from assets held as collateral),
external valuation reports. The non-observable inputs to the models include adjustments for credit, market and liquidity
risks associated with the expected cash flows from the borrower’s operations or in respect of collateral valuation.

Financial assets and financial liabilities carried at amortized cost, Valuation techniques include net present value and
discounted cash inflow models and comparisons with similar instruments for which quoted market prices are known.
Judgments and data used in the valuation include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other
adjustments used to estimate discount rates, stock and bond prices and foreign exchange rates. Valuation methods
are aimed at determining the value that reflects the value of the financial instrument as at the reporting date, which was
determined by independent market participants.

The falr value of unguoted Inslruments, loans lo cuslomers, depusits rom cuslomers, due lo credit institutions, due fo
other banks, other financial assets and labilities, financial lease liabilities is estimated by discounting future cash flows
using rates that currently exist for debt with similar terms, credit risk and maturity. The foilowing assumptions are used
by management {o estimate the fair value of financial instruments:

= discount rates of 13.1-20.2% for Tenge assets and 4.8-8.4% for foreign currency assets were used to discount
future cash flows on loans to corporate customers and loans to retail customers, respectively (December 31, 2021:
10.4 - 22.7% and 3.6 - 11.4%, respectively);

¢ to calculate estimated future cash flows on current accounts and deposits of corporate and retail customers,
discount rates of 0.5-14.8% for Tenge deposits, 0.2-1.3% for foreign currency deposits were used, respectively
(December 31, 2021: 0.4-8.8% and 0.2 — 2.7%, respectively).
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26 Fair Value Measurement (Continued)

Significant unobservable inputs and sensitivity of level 3 non-financial instruments measured at fair value to
changes to key assumptions

e The following table summarizes the sensitivity of the fair value measurement of Bank's buildings and land categorized
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy to changes in unobservable inputs as at 31 December 2022 and 2021:

Unobservable inputs Range Description of sensitivity

An increase/decrease in the trade discount may resultin a
decreasefingrease in lhe falr value of the Bank's land and
Trade discount 0.0%-10.0% buildings.
An increase/decrease in the size allowance may resuit in an
increase/decrease in the fair value of the Bank's land and

Adjustment for size -27.0%~9.0% buildings.
. An increase/decresse in lhe use allowance may result in an
Adjustment for increase/decrease in the fair value of the Bank's land and
intended purpose 3.7%6.2% buildings.

27 Maturily Analysis of Asscts and Liabilities

The tabla below shows an analysis of assote and liabilitios according to whon thoy are expocted o be rocovorad or
setlled Ses Note 25 for the Bank's conlraclual undiscounted repayrment abligations

ety

2022 2021
Withinone  More than Within one  More than
e, in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge year one year Total year one year Total
Cash and cash equivalents 73,608,146 - 73,608,146 37,745,423 - 37,745,423
Due from other banks 1,209,370 - 1,209,370 1,076,701 - 1,076,701
Investments - 554,379 554,379 554,379 554,379

Loans to customers 38,132,555 37,369,057 75,501,612 21,826,489 563,972,338 75,798,827
Property and equipment - 12,032,837 12,032,537 - 10,882,025 10,882,025

Intangible assets - 321,308 321,308 - 279,078 279,078
. Prepayment of current tax liabilities 185,770 - 185,770 - - -
- Other assets 4,583,754 367,147 4,950,901 6,298,928 - 6,298,928
S

Total assets 117,719,595 50,644,428 168,364,023 66,947,541 65,687,820 132,636,361
] Due to credit institutions 1,108,357 4,000,000 5,108,357 5,102,162 - 5,102,162
T Customer accounts 84,886,950 18,379,854 103,266,804 90,174,766 557,705 90,732,471

Current CIT payable - - - 110,010 - 110,010
- Deferred CIT liabilities - 214,864 214,864 - 166,858 166,858

Lease liabilities 185,972 217,133 403,105 181,810 352,959 534,769
- Cther liabilities 427,357 51,377 478,734 174,458 25,716 200,174
2 Total liabilities 86,608,636 22,863,228 109,471,864 95,743,206 1,103,238 96,846,444

Net position 31,110,959 27,781,200 58,892,159 (28,795,66G5) G4,604,662 35,788,917

[he Bank's ability to meel Ils obligallons 1s based on Ils abilily to reallze an eguivalenl amount of gesels wilhin the
same perlod of Ume. As al 31 Decetnber 2022, the Bank has posltive lyuldily of KZT 31, 1 10,959 thousand during Lhe
[ vear {31 December 2021 - negative liquidity of KZT 28,795,665 thousand).

Liabilities that are redeemable on demand are treated in the table above as if redemption had been made. However,
the Bank expects that many customers will not request repayment at the eariiest date on which the Bank will be required
to make the respective payment, and accordingly, the table does not reflect the expected cash flows calculated by the
Bank based on information on the demand for customer funds for historical periods.
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28 Related Parties Disclosure

In accordance with IAS 24 “Related Parly Disclosures”, parties are refated if one party has the ability o control the
other parly or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. In
considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, not merely
the legal form. Related parties may enter transactions which unrelated parties might not.

Transactions between related parties may not be affected on the same terms, conditions and amounts as transactions
between unrelated parties.

The amount of related party transactions and balances as of 31 December 2022 and 2021, as wall as the respective
amounts of income and expenses for the years than endad are as follows:

AUdd 2021
Contre!l- Koy  Entitios Control- Koy  Entitics
ling  manage- under ling manage- under
I thousanids of share- ment  corrumon Subsidi- share- mend  common  Subsidi-
Kazakhstani Tenge holder personnel control arles Total holder parsonnel control aries Total
Assets
Cash and cash
equivatents 2,092,252 - 862,862 - 2,955,104 545,861 - 511,919 - 1,057,780
. Due from other banks - - 1,209,371 - 1,209,371 - - 1,079,770 ~ 1,079,770
Loans to custormers - 69,254 - - 69,254 - 807 - - 807
Qther assets - - 16,889 - 16,989 - - - - -
Liabilities
Customes aueounts 10,601 1,787 306,284 34,142 42,625 170,642 213,067

The Income and expense Items on fransactions with related partles for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 26211
were as follows:

2022 2021
Control- Key  Entities Control- Key  Entities
ling manage- under ling manage- under
In thousands of Kazakhstani share- ment common  Subsidi- share- ment common  Subsidi-

Tenge holder personnel control aries Total holder persannel control aries Total
interest income 147,946 4,137 52,461 - 204,544 14,112 422 44,720 - 59,254
Interest expense (295,742} - (7) (19,920} (315,669) - - - {3,255) (3,255)
Comission expenses (49,871} - - - {49,871} - - - - -

Informaticn on the tarms of raising funds from the Controlling Shareholder is disclosed in Note 12, As at 31 December
2022, key management personnel loans had interest rates of 8%—12% per annurmn (31 December 2021: 8%—-17% per
annum) and maturities in 2021-2026 (31 December 2021: in 2021-2026).

Below is information for 2022 on the remuneration of 9 members (2021; 10 members) of key management personnel;

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2022 2021
Salaries and other short-term benefits 117,915 104,819
Social security contributions 11,381 9,881
folal rernuneration to key management personnet 129,296 114,700

29 Capltal Adeguacy

The Bank maintains an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in the business. The adequacy of the
Bank's capital is monitored using, among other measures, the ratios established by the NBRK.

During 2022 and 2021, the Bank had complied in full with its externally imposed capital requirements.

The primary objectives of the Bank’'s capital management are to ensure that the Bank complies with externally imposed
capital requirements and that the Bank maintains strong credit ratings and healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and to maximize shareholders’ value,
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29 Capital Adequacy {Continued)

The Bank manages its capital structure and makes adjustments fo it in the light of changes in economic conditions and
lie risk characlerslics of Its acllviies. No changes were made In the objectives, pollcles and processes from the

previous years.

Under the current capital requirements set by the NBRK banks have to maintain:

= a ratio of basic capital to the sum of credit risk weighted assets and contingent liabilities, market risk and a

guantitative measure of operating risk weighted assets and contingent liabilities and (k1);

e a ratio of tier 1 capital less investments to the sum of credit risk-weighted assets and contingent liabilities, market
risk and a guantitative measure of operational risk weighted assets, contingent assets and liabilities (k1-2);

« a ratio of own capltal to the sum of credlt risk weighted assets and contingent liabilities, market risk and a

quantitative measure of operating risk weighted assets and contingent liabilities and (k2).

Investments for the purposes of calculation of the above ratios represent investments into share capital (interest in the
share capital) of a legal entity and subordinated debt of a legal entity if their total exceeds 10% of the total of stage 1

and stage 2 capital of the Bank.

The following table shows the composition of the Bank’s capital position calculated in accordance with the NBRK

requirements as of 31 December 2022 and 2021:

In thousands of Kacakhstani Tenge 2022 2021
Tier 1 capltal 58,327,786 35,505,142
Tier 2 capital - -
Total statutory capital 58,327,786 35,505,742
Risk-weighted assets and contingent liabilities, potential claims

and liahilities 158,869,838 125,873,147
Capital adequacy ratio k1 {at least 5,5%) 37% 28%
Capital adequacy ratio k1-2 {at least 6,5%) 37% 28%
Capital adequacy ratio k2 (at least 8%) 37% 28%
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2022 2021
Tier 1 capital
Share capital 48,500,000 15,000,000
Revaluation reserves 950,746 696,534
Retained earnings 18,916,705 18,911,111
Accumulated disclosed reserve 1,177,175 1177175
Loss of the current year (10,895,533) -
Intangible assets, including goodwili (321,307) (279,078)
Total Tler | capltat 58,327,186 35,505,742
Tier 2 capital
Revaluation reserve - -
Subordinated debt - -
Total Tier 2 capital - -
Total capital 58,327,786 35,505,742
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29 Capital Adequacy (Continued)

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2022 2021
Credit risl-weighted assets 117,032,146 106,301,731
Credit risk-weighted contingent and possible liabilities 36,166,558 14,989,059
Assets and contingent and possible claims and liabilities calculated

taking into account market risk 326,075 74,025
Operational risk 5,345,059 4,508,334
Total amount of risks 158,869,838 125,873,149

30 Events after the End of the Keporting Period

On 3 January 2023, the Monelaty Policy Committee of the Nafional Bank of lhe Republic of Kazakhsian declded o
set the base rate at 16.75% per annum with a corridor of +/- 1 p.p. The decision was made in the conditions of
compliance of the actual inflation with the forecasts of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan. The dynamics
of internal and external inflationary processes, as well as the trajectory of economic growth, are formed in accordance
with the base scenario of the forecast of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan. Monthly inflation is gradually
slowing down whils simultansously exceeding its average annual values. The balance of inflation risks remains skewed
in favor of pro-inflationary risks, with a high stable portion of inflation and accelerated inflation expectations. The
negative impact of the restructuring of supply chaing on the sconomy continues. The remaining risks require maintaining
the base rale al current values for an extanded period of time,

In March 2023, due to recent evenis that led to higher interest rates in both Curope and the US, California-based Silicon
Valley Bank filed for bankruptey, the second largest bankruptcy in U8 history since the closure of Washington Mutual
in 2008. Silicon Valley Bank was one of the 16 largest US banks and specialized in working with startups. The risks of
the Impact of the local crisls In the US on the banks of the Eurozone led to a fall In the value of shares of the Swiss
bank Credit Suisse. In recent days, global events are reflected in the domestic foreign exchange market. There is an
increase in volatility and a weakening of the national currency against the US dollar, which is complicated by the fall in
oil prices to $73-74 per barrel. At the same time, the impact of local crises in US and Eurozone banks on the financial
market of Kazakhstan is limited. The Bank has no assets in US and Eurozone banks. As of the date of issue of these
statements, the Bank's management does not observe the impact of these events on the Bank, and the Bank regularly
conducts siress testing, which allows to predict the potential effect of such events on the financial position of the Bank.
According to the results of the latest stress testing, the margin of safety is sufficient and in the event of such scenarics,
the Bank's prudential standards will not be violated.
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